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“A blessing is never forgotten. 
In our Zandé culture, it is said 
that we recognise a friend in 
difficult times when this friend 
rushes to help. That’s what we 
see in the works of Medair.”
Jean B. G. Dakatina, President,  
Doruma’s displaced persons, D.R. Congo

MEDAIR   Annual Review 20092   A Medair nurse checks a woman’s blood pressure at a D.R. Congo clinic.
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INDONESIA • D.R. CONGO • 

SOuthERn SuDAn •

• UGANDA

• MADAGASCAR

  • SuDAn 
(northern States)

AFGHANISTAN • 

• SOMAliA/SOMAlilAnD

•  3,201,852 total beneficiaries
•  8 country programmes
•  7 countries of operation
•  1 international headquarters in Switzerland, 69 positions
•  5 affiliate offices in France, Germany, the netherlands, u.K., and u.S.
•  120 internationally recruited staff positions in the field (iRS)
•  45 Kenyan-recruited staff (KRS)
•  1,065 nationally recruited staff (nRS)
•  29 nationalities represented among Medair staff

Countries Crises Challenges

Southern Sudan Conflict •  Sporadic ongoing conflict
•  Post-conflict recovery
•  Significant iDP and returnee 

population
natural disaster •  Flooding

•  Drought
Other crises •  high general population vulnerability

•  Disease epidemics
•  Food crises

Sudan  
(Northern States)

Conflict •  Ongoing conflict
•  Post-conflict recovery
•  Significant IDP population

natural disaster •  Drought
Other crises •  high general population vulnerability

•  Disease epidemics
•  Food crises

Uganda Conflict •  Sporadic ongoing conflict
•  Post-conflict recovery
•  IDP population

natural disaster •  Drought
Other crises •  high general population vulnerability

•  Disease epidemics
•  Food crises

Countries Crises Challenges

Afghanistan Conflict •  Post-conflict recovery  
(in areas where Medair works)

natural disaster •  Drought
•  Flooding and landslides

Other crises •  high general population vulnerability
•  Waterborne diseases
•  Food crises

D.R. Congo Conflict •  Sporadic ongoing conflict
•  Post-conflict recovery
• Significant iDP population

Other crises •  high general population vulnerability
•  Disease epidemics

Indonesia natural disaster •  Tsunami
•  Earthquakes

Madagascar natural disaster •  Cyclones
•  Flooding

Other crises •  high general population vulnerability
•  Food crises

Somalia/
Somaliland

Conflict • Insecurity
• Population displaced from homes

natural disaster • Drought and flooding
Other crises •  high general population vulnerability

•  Food crises
•  Disease epidemics

2009 Medair Summary 
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twenty years ago, a small team of European volunteers set 
out to fulfil a vision of providing swift, mobile emergency 
relief in vulnerable countries. On their initial mission to 
conflict-ravaged uganda, they helped internally displaced 
people settle back into their home villages. 

From there, the newly formed “Medair” team flew into war-
torn Southern Sudan and provided urgent health care, safe 
drinking water, and food distributions—that is, when they 
weren’t dodging bombs or evacuating for their safety. 

Medair soon expanded to work in three more countries: iraq, 
liberia, and Somalia. throughout those early years, Medair 
operated with only minimal funding and with just a small 
workforce of dedicated volunteers, but still made a major life-
saving difference for thousands of people in need.

Over the last 20 years, Medair has matured significantly 
and seen great changes. We have developed into a 
humanitarian organisation that provides both short-term 
emergency relief and longer term rehabilitation. From five 
volunteers, Medair now has 1,300 paid staff working on four 
continents. We have worked in 27 vulnerable countries, and 
have been blessed with generous financial support from 
numerous funding partners. Millions upon millions of lives 
have been saved or sustained with our support. 

As an organisation, Medair has developed a reputation 
for being both highly professional as well as genuinely 
compassionate. We are known for going the extra mile, for 
travelling into remote, hard-to-reach places to bring relief 
to people who otherwise might not receive aid. And we are 
known for making ourselves accountable to beneficiaries, 
for listening to their needs and responding to them with 
those needs in mind, not our own. 

Grounded in Our Roots
Although Medair has developed substantially over the 
years, the nature and quality of our work has grown from 
the seeds that were planted long ago. For instance, in 1993 
the fledgling Medair organisation went to Armenia to help 
thousands of families left homeless by a 1988 earthquake. 
these families were living in shipping containers with 
minimal food, yet they were receiving virtually no help from 
the rest of the world. 

Medair undertook a detailed census of all the families 
who were living in shipping containers in Gumry. this 
was something that had not been done in the five years 
following the earthquake, so Medair’s team went from 
container to container, listening to families explain their 

unique needs, and recording the living conditions of each 
of the 16,620 families. 

From there, Medair coordinated emergency food distri-
butions and worked to improve sanitation conditions. 
Medair also shared all of their census information with 
other nGOs and local authorities. As the international aid 
community became more aware of the situation, Gumry 
families soon began to receive the attention and aid they 
so desperately needed. 

Our 20th Year
As Medair’s CEO, i am humbled when i consider the 
remarkable legacy of Medair’s work these past 20 years. in 
this special annual report, Our 20th Year, you will encounter 
many more examples of Medair’s impact on the most 
vulnerable over the years, and you will read reflections 
from some of our longest serving staff. Mostly, you will read 
about Medair’s ongoing life-saving efforts in 2009.

in these pages, you will read about two-year-old Suad in 
Somaliland and the treatment she received that helped 
her recover from severe malnourishment. You will read 
about an innovative project to construct sub-surface 
dams in drought-stricken uganda, something that had 
never before been attempted in the country. From remote 
Afghanistan, you will read the story of a community road-
building project that is transforming an entire region with 
new opportunities. As you read these stories, i believe 
you will witness the ways that Medair has grown from its 
solid roots and blossomed into an organisation of vision, 
capacity, and integrity. 

As we look ahead to the next 20 years, we know we face 
a future full of untold challenges as the world continues 
to change. At Medair, we face that future with confidence 
in our strong and abiding foundation, enriched by all we 
have gained from two decades of service to the world’s 
most vulnerable. 

 Randall Zindler

Message from Randall Zindler, CEO

Randall at Medair’s 20th anniversary 
photography exhibition. 
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in December 1988, a small team of dedicated volunteers 
began providing emergency relief to people resettling into 
their home communities after living in displacement camps 
in Soroti, uganda. 

the team had formed with the support of three partner 
agencies who were interested in nurturing a relief 
organisation capable of delivering emergency aid quickly:  
Médicaments pour l’Afrique, Mission Aviation Fellowship, 
and Youth with a Mission. 

By 1989, this committed group of volunteers officially 
incorporated in Switzerland and the organisation known  
as Medair came into being. 

twenty years later, Medair employs 1,300 staff working 
on four continents and provides emergency relief and 
rehabilitation to millions of people every year. 

Photo:  in Medair's early days, staff were unpaid volunteers who financed 
their own support. today's Medair staff are paid professionals, many 
with years of humanitarian experience.

Medair: 1989–2009

“I have had the privilege of working with 
many Medair volunteers. We have crossed 
swamps together, walked 14 hours a day 
to reach villages that no one had known 
about. We have worked through the night 
to save the lives of those caught up in war 
or struggled to deliver a complicated birth. 

We have laughed until our sides ached 
and we have wept until the sun rose on a 
new day. We have met kings and leaders 
of nations and pleaded on behalf of the 
people we want to help. And through it 
all we have touched the lives of hundreds 
of people and we ourselves have been 
touched by those lives. 

Truly, is this not living life to the full?” 

Sheryl haw, Medair staff from 1991-2004

Reflecting Back on Our First 20 Years  
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Countries Crises Medair Interventions
Afghanistan Conflict, natural disasters, food crises Health services; WASH; infrastructure

Albania Refugees from conflict Camp management; distribution of essential items 

Angola Civil war Health services; WASH; infrastructure; food distribution

Armenia Earthquake Census; food distribution; sanitation

Bangladesh Flooding health services; seed distribution; early warning system for floods

Chad Drought nutritional support; food and seed distribution 

Chechnya Civil war Sanitation facility construction; distribution of building materials

D.R. Congo Conflict Health services; nutritional support, medicine distribution; rebuilding health clinics; WASH

India Earthquake Reconstruction of shelter and infrastructure

Indonesia natural disasters WASH; health services; shelter and infrastructure

Ingushetia Civil war Shelter and sanitation for refugees

Iran Earthquake Shelter and infrastructure; WASH; distribution of essential items 

Iraq Conflict-affected iDPs Resettlement; health services; sanitation; shelter; agricultural aid 

Kenya Prolonged drought WASH; wet-food feeding programme and monitoring

Kosovo Conflict Shelter and infrastructure; health services (dental & psychosocial) 

Lebanon Conflict Support for an orphanage

Liberia Civil war health services (psychosocial; primary health care; drug supply)

Madagascar Cyclones WASH; infrastructure; disaster risk reduction

Mozambique Flooding Health services; WASH; shelter and infrastructure

North Ossetia Civil war Shelter and sanitation for refugees; peace-building and reconciliation

Pakistan Earthquake Shelter and infrastructure; livelihood support

Rwanda Civil war Resettlement; health services (primary health care, psychosocial); WASH

Somalia Civil war, flooding, drought Health services; nutritional support; WASH; shelter and infrastructure

Southern Sudan Civil war, flooding, drought Health services; emergency response teams; WASH; infrastructure

Sri Lanka tsunami WASH; shelter and infrastructure; distribution of essential items

Sudan (Northern States) Civil war, drought Health services; WASH; shelter and infrastructure

Uganda Conflict Health services; WASH; shelter and infrastructure

Zimbabwe Famine health services; supplementary feeding programme

Photo:  Ethiopian refugees in Sudan at Medair food distribution. 
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Medair: 1989–2009

Iraq: 1991-1992
In the aftermath of the Persian Gulf War, Medair sent a team 
into northern iraq to bring relief to the persecuted Kurds, 
millions of whom had been displaced from their homes. in 
the mountain village of Penjwin, we provided multisectoral 
relief for the 110,000 Kurds taking refuge there. 

“We shall never forget the Medair team,” said the Mayor 
of Penjwin, “because you people, you stayed with us 
the whole winter, in the snow, in your tents. You never 
left us.” 

Rwanda: 1994
in April 1994, the incalculable Rwandan genocide began, 
as an estimated 800,000 tutsi people were massacred 
over a period of 100 days, shattering the conscience of the 
world. For six months, Medair provided life-saving relief in 

the devastated region of Bugasera, where only 20 percent 
of the original inhabitants still remained. 

“i will never forget the orphanage of 500 children that i 
visited,” wrote Medair’s Dr. Rhiannon lloyd. “As we went 
around we heard singing coming from one of the buildings. 
‘They’re the Christians,’ I was told. We found a group of 
children comforting one another in song, singing: ‘Don’t 
grieve! We will meet our loved ones again before God’s 
throne, and God will wipe away all our tears.’” 

The Balkans: 1998-2000
Medair responded swiftly when war erupted in the Balkans, 
and 800,000 people fled from Kosovo to Albania. We were one 
of the first nGOs on-the-ground, managing a reception tent for 
refugees, and helping coordinate the overall relief effort.

later in the year, Medair helped returnees in Kosovo 
rehabilitate damaged shelters before winter. however, the 
trauma of the war was deeper than any structural repair 
could mend: 

“You help us rebuild our houses, but who will help us 
rebuild our minds?” cried one man who had witnessed his 
wife’s killing. in response, Medair began a psychosocial 
programme in schools throughout Kosovo that helped 
traumatised children begin to recover from the horrors of 
the war. 

Sri Lanka: 2004-2005
When the devastating Asian tsunami struck in December 2004, 
Medair was on-the-ground in Sri lanka within 24 hours, and 
operational in five days. We worked in a neglected fishing 
village to secure safe drinking water and provide temporary 
shelters for the most vulnerable. the project culminated 
in a distribution of new fishing boats and nets to the 
recovering community. 

“On the one-month anniversary of the tsunami, it was a day 
of remembrance in Sri Lanka,” wrote a Medair staff. “We 
went first to the Buddhist temple, then to the mosque, to 
the Roman Catholic church, and finally to the hindu temple. 
We are so busy here and we have no time to lose, but we 
must also remember just to sit with those who lost so 
much, and just to weep with them, one by one...”

Two Decades of Medair Interventions
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D.R. Congo: 1997-2009
Against the backdrop of an unspeakably brutal war that 
left 5.4 million people dead, Medair provided health and 
nutrition support throughout the vast northeast region 
of the country, where no international nGO had worked 
before, and where access by air was often the only option. 

“We want to express our deep gratitude,” wrote a 
Congolese doctor from a remote health clinic, “not only 
for these life-saving medicines, but also for the love and 
concern demonstrated by your support towards the most 
vulnerable part of our population. the aircraft brought a 
spirit of hope, like a banner lifted against the weapons 
threatening us.”

With the war ended and post-conflict recovery underway, 
Medair remained committed to the vulnerable people of 
D.R. Congo as they rebuilt their infrastructure, their health 
care system, and the fabric of their lives. 

Pakistan: 2005-2007
When a massive earthquake struck the Kashmir region  
in 2005, Medair was on-the-ground and operational in five 
days. Millions were without shelter and winter was fast 
approaching. Our team went door-to-door in the mountain 
villages of isolated Poonch district and provided life-saving 
shelter materials for thousands of families.

After the emergency passed, Medair trained people 
to construct their homes with earthquake-resistant 
construction techniques. We gave water buffaloes and 
seeds to families, established 12 sewing centres for women, 
and rebuilt 11 schools in remote mountain villages. 

“We highly appreciate Medair’s efforts to work in  
difficult terrain and hard weather conditions,” said 
Raja tariq Mehmood, Poonch official. “it was a great 
contribution, helping to ensure a bright future for our 
coming generations.”

Photos,  left above: Women in Iraq wash dishes in primitive conditions.   
left below: Rwandans take refuge in a camp for displaced persons 
after the genocide of 1994. 

From the Desk of Dr. David Sauter

Medair’s longest serving current staff 
member reflects on his 15 years within  
the organisation.
 
Medair’s h.Q. team consisted of only five people when i started 
in September 1994. i chose to come to Medair because—in 
addition to being an aid organisation working in the health-care  
sector—it was a small, young, and dynamic organisation that 
founded its work and values on the Christian faith.
 
i can recall the whole h.Q. team around a table in December 
1994, at a time when Medair had no more projects in the 
field. “What next?” we prayed together. Quite a special 
moment. What response did we get? In February, we 
restarted in Southern Sudan, and from then on, Medair 
built up the number of country programmes running at the 
same time to reach eight in the last several years.

For 10 years, i supported the D.R. Congo team as desk officer 
during some very difficult times in that country. in June 
2007, we celebrated our 10-year anniversary of providing 
health care support in eastern D.R. Congo. At the ceremony, 
i realised the strong sense of gratitude that people there felt 
for Medair’s staff because of all the incredible work we had 
achieved working alongside people in their communities.
 
today, my main hope and dream is that Medair can do more 
and better of the same work. We should keep deepening our 
values, so that we strengthen our capacity to fulfil our mission 
and work creatively to find the best ways to impact lives. 

i have no doubt that, with the quality and dedication of 
Medair team members i see at h.Q. and in our field teams, 
this dream will continue to be a reality—one that i have had 
the privilege, these past 15 years, to witness and live out.

Photo:  Dr. David Sauter uses a newly built Canzee hand pump in 
Maroantsetra district, Madagascar.

9   



Emergency Relief 
In emergencies, Medair can swiftly mobilise an experienced team of international staff 
to respond to natural disasters, conflicts, and crises that threaten the lives of affected 
populations—often with the aid of skilled local staff.

“i am old and have no strength to move and look for water,” 
said 60-year-old Guled Mohamed Agararan last May in 
Somaliland. “i was waiting to die because no one was left in 
the village. they all had moved to search for water.”

in 2009, severe drought conditions in Somaliland led to 
a mass exodus from rural areas. Without water, the threat 
of death loomed for millions of vulnerable people. Medair 
conducted an assessment of the most critical villages 
and found that people in the rural communities urgently 
needed drinking water to survive. in the face of such a life-
and-death emergency, there was no time to attempt longer 
term methods of water provision like drilling boreholes or 
repairing broken berkads (cisterns). 

instead, Medair took the emergency measure of sending trucks 
filled with safe water to the villages that needed it the most.

in these parched villages, the most vulnerable people  
had often been left behind. With so little rain and no water 
to drink, Guled thought he would surely die alone.  
“But Medair came to my rescue!” said the grateful man. 
“God protect Medair and give them more means to help  
the needy.” 

During the dry season from May to October, Medair trucked 
in a total of 3.2 million litres of life-saving water. “Medair 
has saved many lives since they started the water trucking 
in this region,” said Abdirisak Mohamed Ajep, Director of 
Water in Togdheer. 

Photo:  From May to October, Medair provided a total of 3.2 million litres of 
live-saving water in Somaliland. 
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Core Competencies

Rehabilitation
Medair works with communities in crisis to help improve their capacity to provide essential 
services to residents, and ultimately, to help prevent or reduce the risks of future crises. 

in Madagascar, the city of Maroantsetra sits in a river basin 
that becomes flooded whenever there are cyclones or 
heavy rain. During these floods, the population suffers from 
serious illnesses because their drinking water becomes 
contaminated with rubbish and excrement.

this year, the mayor and local authorities approached Medair 
with a plan. they wanted to dig more canals and set up a 
rubbish management system to clean out their existing canal 
network. that way, pockets of dirty water would drain away 
from the town and thus prevent illness in future floods. 

Medair embraced the mayor’s plan to improve living 
conditions in Maroantsetra. Our team provided the 
community with strategic coaching on their plan, helped 
organise the work process, and offered financial support. 

With our support, the community established a system to 
regularly clean up rubbish over 25 kilometres of drainage 

trenches. together, we also dug two kilometres of  
new trenches, constructed 34 new culverts, and built 
20 rubbish tanks.

in total, 1,524 people worked to improve the city while also 
earning money and food for their families. this was a great 
benefit because the project took place during a difficult 
economic time in Maroantsetra, when everyone was 
running out of rice and people were out of work.

“that’s what we like to do: work with people in need who 
have the motivation to propose and carry out their own 
local solutions,” said Aurélien G. Demaurex, Country 
Director. “So we only need to help push the idea further 
along... and we work with people not instead of them. 
that’s how you ensure a life-long impact.”

Photo:  Beneficiaries and Medair staff clean out drainage trenches  
in Maroantsetra. 
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American paediatrician and public health specialist Dr. Wendy Dyment, Medair’s Health Advisor, 
describes Medair’s approach to improving the health of communities in need.

When we hear about a health problem in a community, we 
first conduct an assessment to determine the main health 
needs and priorities as well as the community’s ability to 
respond themselves with their own resources. if we decide 
to intervene, we prioritise how to make the biggest impact. 
improving primary health care is often a top priority, and it 
is also something that Medair does very well. 

At Medair, we do relief with development in mind. Some 
agencies really do come in and say, “here’s our package, 
this is what we deliver.” they don’t take the time to 
coordinate with the Ministry of health, or to work with other 
nGOs, or leaders in the communities. Once they deliver 
their package and the emergency or funding is over, then 
there’s often an abrupt end point and departure.  

But to make long-term health impacts, you need to involve 
the community from the start. You really have to partner 
together and work alongside communities, and not just 
come in and deliver a set package of predetermined 
services without assessing the greatest needs.  

For instance, when we initiate a health intervention, instead 
of people seeing it as “Medair’s health clinic,” we want 
them to see it as the community’s health clinic. Medair is 
supporting them, but it’s their community, their health, and 
their clinic. So as an agency, even though we do relief work, 
we try to be mindful of the development context, and the 
impacts over the long term.

Still, the short-term outbreak interventions are often 
the most immediately rewarding, because you can see 
rapid impact, and lives clearly saved. During one cholera 
outbreak, almost every time i left the clinic in the truck, 
someone would wave me down to help someone lying on 
the side of the road who was sick. 

it’s amazing to pick up someone who is unconscious from 
something as simple as dehydration and low glucose and 
then, within an hour or two after they receive fluids, to see 
them wake up and start talking. these people would have died 
had they not received care, then suddenly they are awake 
and talking to you–that’s quite a remarkable experience.

But even though these micro-changes at the individual level 
are amazing to participate in, when we take a step back, the 

bigger picture impacts on the health of communities are the 
more impressive ones. these changes come from Medair’s 
training of people about their health. Over time, you see 
beneficiaries take on the vision of being responsible for 
their own health. You begin to see people mobilising their 
communities, using the resources they have, and working 
together to make changes for health. 

like many other Medair staff, i’ve made a conscious effort 
to leave a more lucrative life as a physician in the u.S. to 
make an impact on the health of mothers and children in 
difficult situations. So for me, it’s a passion, not just a job. 
it’s a lot of work, but it’s well worth the blood, sweat, and 
tears to dedicate your time and energy in life to trying to 
improve the health of people in crisis.

Health Services

Medair Health Services Sector (examples)

•  Support for primary health care clinics
• Emergency responses to disease outbreaks or displaced populations 
•  Safe motherhood and child health programmes including antenatal 

and postnatal clinics
•  Emergency nutrition programmes and food distributions
•  Vaccination campaigns
• health and hygiene promotion
•  Mosquito net distributions (malaria prevention)
•  health-system strengthening and capacity building
•  Supportive supervision, training, and monitoring of clinics and staff
• Baseline surveys and rapid health and nutrition assessments
•  Care for victims of sexual violence
• Psychosocial support for conflict-affected people

 Photo:  Dr. Wendy Dyment and Medair nationally recruited staff visit a camp 
for internally displaced persons in D.R. Congo. 
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On a hot night in May, Aziza showed up at Medair’s 
antenatal care centre in Sisi, a displaced-persons camp 
in West Darfur. She had been in labour at home for nine 
hours, under the care of a traditional birth attendant 
(tBA). the midwife on the night shift, nour, immediately 
knew that Aziza was in danger. 

the maternal mortality rate in Sudan is 450 deaths per 
100,000 births,1 which is very high compared with most 
Western countries (fewer than 10 per 100,000). health 
experts agree that the presence of a skilled attendant 
at every birth–at a minimum with midwifery skills–is a 
crucial step in reducing such tragic loss of life. 

Weeks earlier, our midwives had strongly advised Aziza to 
travel to the El Geneina hospital for her baby’s delivery, 
based on complications with her first pregnancy that had 
required a C-section.

“Medair’s training enables midwives to identify early on 
which women should be referred to hospital for potentially 
life-saving obstetric care,” said Emily Chambers, Medair’s 
Health Coordinator in West Darfur.

however, Aziza chose to remain at home for the birth, and now 
she faced a life-and-death crisis. She urgently needed to be 
seen at the El Geneina hospital for an emergency C-section.

“in rural areas, women have always had delivery from 
tBAs,” explained Margaret Poni thomas, Medair Midwife 
Supervisor. “But the reality is that delivery at home is 
a big risk. i try to train tBAs to understand the possible 
complications, so that they will refer women to a clinic.”

Supporting the training of skilled midwives is Medair’s 
key safe motherhood intervention in West Darfur. As a 
result, skilled midwives are now present at 18 clinics in 
the Medair project area, and in 2009, they attended more 
than 6,700 births. their presence at those births meant 
that women had access to a clean delivery bed, sterile 
equipment, and a midwife with training about when to  
refer to the hospital. 

Midwives will also accompany women in labour to a nearby 
hospital, just as nour did with Aziza in May. upon arrival at 
the El Geneina hospital, a doctor performed a C-section that 
saved the lives of Aziza and her newborn child. Exhausted 
but joyful, nour and all the staff at the Sisi clinic celebrated 
the successful birth.

“the maternal mortality rate we can observe in women 
helped by our midwives has been dramatically lower 
than the global Sudan rates,” said Emily. “these are 
significant, life-saving results that demonstrate the vital 
impact that Medair is making for the most vulnerable 
people in West Darfur.” 

1 http://www.unicef.org/infobycountry/sudan_statistics.html 

Photos,  left: Medair gives vital training to midwives, enabling them to save 
the lives of mothers and babies.  
above: People and animals in front of Medair's antenatal clinic in 
Sisi, a camp for displaced persons in West Darfur. 

A Midnight Emergency
In West Darfur, Medair-supported midwives make 
a life-saving difference for mothers and children.

Sectors of Expertise

13   



German engineer Jürgen Matheis, Medair WASH Advisor (2002-2009), explains why proper 
hygiene is as important as improved access to clean water and sanitation. 

When I first started with Medair in Southern Sudan, my 
main task was to hand-drill a borehole in Otalo, a village in 
Jonglei district. Prior to that time, Medair had never before 
drilled a successful borehole in Sudan.  

the drilling took a long time because the water table was so 
deep and because of security concerns. Yet our team finally 
succeeded. We didn’t need to announce our success, either. 
Women with jerry cans began to arrive from near and far, 
patiently waiting for a turn at the pump.  

the villagers had a ceremony to celebrate their new well. 
they gave us a cow in recognition of our achievement, and 
the elderly king said in his speech: “now the river is in the 
village.” those are images i will never forget.

Everyone must drink water to survive, but the irony is 
that this same life-sustaining water can make people ill 
if the water quality is poor.  People also need sufficient 
quantities of water for hygiene tasks like washing their 
hands, in order to protect themselves from diarrhoea 
and other diseases. Furthermore, using latrines allows 
for safe stool disposal while also preserving dignity, 
especially for women. 

in addition, teaching people about hygiene always goes 
hand-in-hand with working to provide them with new water 
sources and latrines. 

in the 19th century, prior to modern water and sanitation 
systems, cholera epidemics caused a huge number  
of fatalities in cities like london and hamburg. Change 
came only when the cause of the disease was discovered, 
and governments and individuals committed to systemic 
changes. Medair seeks to catalyse this change for  
people who, even today, are excluded from these life-
saving benefits.

to do this, Medair constructs latrines and water sources 
(boreholes, wells, rainwater harvesting, and others).  
to promote better hygiene practices, Medair reaches out 
with puppet theatre, songs, and radio messages, along 
with traditional classroom teaching methods.

But Medair’s WASH approach can only work if beneficiaries 
are completely involved. Committees of community 
members learn to maintain their water systems and take 
on the responsibility of helping others adopt new hygiene 
practices.

that’s why it was so rewarding when, one year after 
completing the borehole, i returned to the village of Otalo 
and found the pump still functioning and in constant use. 
With the training they had received, the community was 
maintaining the borehole and taking on the responsibility 
of ensuring a steady supply of safe water. 

Water, Sanitation,  
and Hygiene (WASH)

Medair WASH Sector (examples)

•  hygiene promotion, with focus on drinking safe water, hand-washing, 
and safe stool disposal
•  new water points: drilling boreholes, digging wells, protecting springs
•  Rehabilitation and maintenance of existing water points
•  installation of rainwater-harvesting and gravity-fed water systems
•  installation of sub-surface dams
•  Emergency water trucking
•  installation and operation of mobile water treatment systems  

in emergencies 
• Provision of household ceramic filters
•  latrine construction
•  installation of hand-washing and bathing facilities
•  Rubbish collection campaigns
•  training of village water committees and pump mechanics

 Photo:  Jürgen Matheis, 2002, tests water yield in Jonglei Region. 
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For years, the town of Yei struggled with a long-term 
problem: lack of access to safe drinking water. 

“the lines were long at our two boreholes, causing fighting 
and conflict,” said Grace Kiden, chair of a village water 
committee in Yei. “You went to the borehole at 4 or 5 in the 
morning. Sometimes you had to wait for two to three hours, 
and then you were only allowed to fill two jerry cans.”

Boreholes are the main source of drinking water for the 
115,000 people living in Yei. however, long queues at 
boreholes, especially in the dry seasons, have made it 
tempting for people to use the Yei River for their water needs. 
unfortunately, the Yei River is a contaminated source of water 
because people and livestock defecate near the river, and the 
rains wash the waste into the Yei. “using this water increases 
the risk of contracting a water-related disease like cholera,” 
said Kees van Bemmel, Medair’s WASH Project Manager.

The Threat of Cholera
Cholera is one of the most serious concerns in Yei, where 
contagious outbreaks have struck in three of the last four 
years. to help break the cholera cycle, uniCEF asked Medair 
to implement two water distribution systems—networks of 
pipes that distribute water from high-yield boreholes over  
a large area. 

While Medair managed the overall project, the local 
residents were highly involved—participating in meetings, 
providing feedback, and contributing their labour. 

Each system now provides multiple tap stands where 
residents can access water without long queues. “Water 
will now be shared much more effectively with easier access 
for everyone,” said Kees. “this improved access to clean 
water will help prevent the onset of cholera in these areas, 
because people will be less likely to use contaminated 
water from the Yei River.” 

After construction, Medair trained local committees on  
how to operate and maintain the water distribution 
systems, as Yei residents assumed ownership of their  
new water systems. 

“i’m very happy with the new system, very happy,” said 
Regina Yata, the tap 16 Supervisor in lomuku. “now  
we can sleep and do not have to get up very early to be in  
the line before 6 a.m. the lines were very long, all the  
way downhill.”

Safe drinking water alone will not prevent cholera unless 
there is also good hygiene practice, so Medair also trained 
30 people to promote proper hygiene in Yei. 

“the new system is very appreciated and effective,” 
concluded Grace. “there are no conflicts anymore to get 
water, and the team here is very committed.”

Photos,  left: Residents of Yei, Southern Sudan, help build the town’s new 
water systems. 
 right: A family in Yei uses one of their town’s new tap stands to 
access clean water.

A Long Wait for Water
Medair improves community access to safe drinking water and combats cholera in Yei, 
Southern Sudan.

Sectors of Expertise
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British architect Mark Wooding, Medair’s 
Shelter and Reconstruction Advisor, explains 
why shelter and infrastructure projects are 
so important. 

in the u.K., i worked extensively in commercial architecture, 
designing houses, schools, art galleries, libraries, and town 
centres. But i felt led to work in vulnerable countries. And 
so, before working for Medair, i spent two-and-a-half years 
working in Malawi, and later, four years in Kenya as the 
country director for habitat for humanity.

My role at Medair is to support our staff and be on call to 
respond to emergencies when necessary. Since Medair 
does so much construction (we have built or improved 
more than 12,000 emergency shelters or homes over the 
past 10 years), we need to support our staff in the field. 
Staff members on one- or two-year contracts, regardless 
of their skill-sets, will not know everything about how 
Medair runs a construction project, so i provide them 
with some initial training. But more importantly, i offer 
day-to-day assistance with any technical questions they 
may have, and i supply them with project management 
tools to help them do their jobs effectively.   

to keep up-to-date with shelter and reconstruction 
strategies at the global level, i attend bi-annual 
international shelter meetings and global emergency 
shelter cluster meetings held in Geneva. there, we 
evaluate past emergency responses and develop 
improved methods for the Red Cross, u.n. agencies, 
and national and international nGOs like Medair to act 
quickly in terms of appropriate shelter responses. 

Sometimes, people ask me why shelter and 
infrastructure is so important in the humanitarian sector. 
it’s interesting, because when the final statistics of a 
natural disaster are made available, the reconstruction 
costs are often the highest percentage. Yet the sector 
has lagged behind health, nutrition, and water and 
sanitation in terms of expertise, coordination, and 
available funding at the right time.  

But whether Medair runs a health programme, 
undertakes water and sanitation improvements, or 

supports the education system with school feeding 
programmes, we invariably have to build something.  
Moreover, after natural disasters such as cyclones or 
earthquakes, thousands or even millions of people 
are left without homes, so shelter becomes an urgent, 
primary need. 

the sector is now gaining in respect as donors recognise 
the need for longer funding periods for shelter and other 
reconstruction projects. they are seeing that so much 
can be done to reduce the risks of mortality and suffering 
in the event of future natural disasters. Furthermore, 
Medair is now recognised as a key player in this sector, 
and we are asked to contribute to the shelter debate 
because of our proven experience on the ground. 

i am glad that Medair is part of this transformative 
process, and hope and pray that we can continue to 
improve the way we serve our beneficiaries in terms of 
appropriate, life-saving reconstruction projects through 
our dedicated staff in the field.

Shelter and 
Infrastructure

Medair Shelter and Infrastructure Sector (examples)

•  Emergency and transitional shelter distribution and construction
•  Distribution of essential non-food items (blankets, kitchen utensils, 

tools, etc.)
•  Construction or rehabilitation of permanent shelters
•  Construction or rehabilitation of schools, health units, roads, bridges, 

airstrips
•  Disaster mitigation strategy and implementation, including the 

building of cyclone shelters
•  training in earthquake-resistant and other appropriate construction 

techniques
•  livelihood support including community income-generating projects, 

food-for-work, and cash-for-work projects
•  Educational support

 Photo:  Mark Wooding teaches beneficiaries about shelter construction.
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Jamila rarely left her home village in Afghanistan’s 
rugged Shahi valley. With no road to travel over the 
treacherous terrain, she was isolated from other 
communities nearby.

“last year, i was very sick. i took a donkey to a health clinic 
in the next valley,” said Jamila, a 35-year-old widow and 
mother of five. “But the way was so difficult for the donkey 
that i fell off and broke my bones.”

As Jamila spoke about how hard she works for her family’s 
basic survival, she recounted a desperate story far too 
familiar in these remote valley communities. Drought had 
pushed people to the edge of malnutrition. no road also 
meant no trade and very few jobs; families sent their men 
away to work in other countries. 

As Medair consulted with community leaders and residents, 
it became very clear that people here needed food—or jobs 
to earn money to buy food. And, for long-term food security, 
people in this region really needed a road. 

Building a road through these valleys and peaks was 
going to be a difficult undertaking, but Medair and the 
communities agreed that they would work together to 
build 17 kilometres of road, and, most importantly, that the 
residents of the community would receive cash for their 
work to help buy food. 

“Since coming back from iran and returning to Afghanistan, 
i have never had a job that pays money, there are none here, 
until this,” said ishmael, one of the workers. “And when the 
road is finished i can still make some money by selling small 
animals because it will be easier to get to the market now.”

As months passed, the speed and success of the road 
construction project exceeded expectations. When the 
workers completed the first 17 kms, Medair responded to 
the energy and support of the community and extended the 
road plans to 31 kms instead—almost double the original 
length. Everyone immediately got to work, and before the 
snow fell, the entire road had been built.

Signs of Hope
today, with the road in place, the most vulnerable are no 
longer as isolated or hopeless as they were just one year 
ago. With more access to markets, there are more economic 
opportunities in the region.

And Jamila, who fell and broke her bones the last time she 
went to a health clinic, is now able to reach the clinic with 
ease. “i hired a donkey and we used the new road,” she 
said. “this time it was so good to get to the clinic easily.  
i am so happy about this road now!”

“having a road here is a huge development,” said Mr. Balal, 
a representative of the Shahi district governor. “the level of 
vulnerability of our people is reduced because sick people 
can get help more quickly and trading in food is now easier.” 

Photos,  left: ishmael’s work on the new road earned him money to buy food 
and clothing for his family. 
 above: Residents of the Surkh Joi and Shahi valleys in Afghanistan 
built a 31-kilometre road, opening up their areas to easier access to 
markets and health care services.

The People’s Road
A road construction project in Afghanistan’s 
remote Surkh Joi and Shahi valleys helps 
transform an entire region.

Sectors of Expertise
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At two years old, Suad weighed no more than five 
kilogrammes. She couldn’t eat or drink, and she was 
vomiting. When Medair staff found her, they knew she 
couldn’t survive much longer without immediate help. 
Rushed to a hospital, Suad was fed through a tube, but she 
kept vomiting. Everyone was worried she would die.

in 2009, Medair provided malnutrition treatment to an 
overwhelming number of children in Somalia/Somaliland. 
Our outpatient therapeutic programme admitted 
2,331 severely malnourished children—far more than the 
expected 225—and our supplementary feeding programme 
admitted twice as many moderately malnourished children 
as we had expected.

With conditions deteriorating at such an alarming 
rate, Medair’s mobile nutrition clinics visited the 
most vulnerable communities and camps to find and 
treat malnourished children. As outpatients, we gave 
malnourished children “Plumpy nut,” a highly nutritional 
peanut paste. those too weak to feed themselves, like 
Suad, were transported to the closest hospital so that they 
could be given specialised care. Families of sick children 
also received additional food rations.

“Within a few weeks, a miracle occurred with Suad,” said 
henrieke hommes, Medair’s Country Director for Somalia/
Somaliland. “She started to put on weight and gain 
strength. What a joy to see children in our programme 
gain weight and strength so quickly, giving them and their 
families hope for the future!”

In Cadale and Burao
in 2009, Medair worked in partnership with a local nGO 
in Cadale district, Somalia, an area of severe need where 

rampant insecurity prevents international staff from being 
present. Meanwhile, in more secure Burao, Somaliland, 
Medair’s international team worked in displacement 
camps and rural areas and coordinated the Cadale 
interventions from there.

in both areas, the heartbreaking needs of the population 
led us to provide a range of health services in addition to 
nutritional support. in Cadale, our comprehensive health 
programme was the only means of health care in the 
whole district.

Mother-child health care was a major priority area, 
including antenatal care, safe deliveries, and monthly 
mobile immunisation clinics. We incorporated health and 
hygiene education into programmes wherever possible.

Water is a precious resource in drought-stricken Somaliland. 
in 2009, the situation became so dire that Medair took the 
emergency measure of sending trucks filled with water to 
villages where the need was greatest. in total, more than 
three million litres of water were trucked in during the year. 
in Cadale, Medair rehabilitated wells to provide people 
with more sustainable sources of water. the teams also 
constructed new latrines in both areas to improve hygiene 
conditions and reduce the spread of disease. 

Stories of Success
in a region caught in such an immense crisis, Medair 
faced significant operational and financial challenges 
that needed to be overcome to save lives in this difficult 
operating environment.

Despite these challenges, Medair opened four additional 
nutrition clinics during the year, bringing the total to 10 in 
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As crisis conditions escalated, Medair provided thousands of children with nutritional support 
and brought essential emergency relief to the most vulnerable.

Somalia/Somaliland
Violent conflict, political instability, debilitating drought, and high food prices have led 
Somalia/Somaliland into one of the worst humanitarian crises in the world. Almost half the 
population need emergency life-saving assistance. the long list of deadly problems includes 
high rates of child malnutrition, maternal mortality, and outbreaks of preventable disease. 
Furthermore, pervasive insecurity in Somalia makes it one of the most difficult regions in the 
world for aid agencies to operate.

Children in Terrible Crisis

MEDAIR   Annual Review 200918   



Somaliland. “i admitted my son to the programme because 
he was sick,” said Zainab Abdullahi. “My child is getting 
better now and my other children have received rations too. 
this has made a big change in our lives.” 

Successes like this kept Medair staff motivated to persist in 
their diligent work. 

“When I follow some of the children over time from their 
admission to recovery, i am overjoyed to find what a few 
weeks of therapy can do,” said George Mutwiri, a Kenyan 
working for Medair as a nutrition project manager. 

“it’s so satisfying to find children who were once helpless 
get help and get their smile back, and mothers who were 
hopeless regain hope.” 

Note: Somaliland declared itself independent from Somalia in 1991. Their independence 
has not been recognised by the international community.

  For more information about  Somalia/Somaliland and  
Medair’s work there, please visit www.medair.org/somalia

Photo:  Medair ensures that severely malnourished children who have 
medical complications receive a specialised level of care.

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 237,094

Medair personnel 6 internationally recruited staff 
5 Kenyan-recruited staff 
31 nationally recruited staff

Health Services–Emergency Relief
•  12,605 malnourished children received treatment

•  15,072 women received nutrition education

•  43,754 vaccines administered to children and women of child-bearing age 

•  54,002 people received health education 

•  10,145 people treated at the mother-child health care facility and 
health posts with 908 children (<5 years) treated for watery diarrhoea

•  2,006 mothers received at least one antenatal check-up; 
21,085 people received antenatal and postnatal education 

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene–Emergency Relief
•  3.2 million litres of water trucked to 60 villages

•  8 wells chlorinated during emergencies (Cadale)

•  400 buckets and 25,000 chlorine tablets distributed during emergencies

Rehabilitation
•  22 shallow wells rehabilitated 

•  100 water filters and 940 jerry cans distributed

•  2,200 hand-washing facilities and 2,820 bars of soap distributed   

•  475 latrines constructed

•  48,615 people reached with hygiene promotion

•  135 solid waste bins constructed, with cleaning tools distributed and 
clean-up campaigns in 5 iDP camps

Shelter and Infrastructure–Emergency Relief
•  1,000 plastic sheets distributed to iDPs in Burao before start of rains

Programme Funders

Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation, united States Agency for 
international Development, u.n. Office for the Coordination of humanitarian 
Affairs, EO-Metterdaad (nlD), tEAR Fund (n.Z.), united nations Children’s 
Fund, the European Commission’s humanitarian Aid department
Private: Demaurex & Cie SA-Marchés Aligro (C.h.) 
Gift in Kind: United Nations Children’s Fund, World Food Programme
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nurse Regine took one 
long look at the numbers 
and knew something was 
wrong. Even in remote 
northeast D.R. Congo, 
mothers and newborns 
should not be dying at 
these rates. She needed 
to see for herself what was 
going on.

She rode off on her 
motorcycle to conduct 
an urgent assessment, 

travelling the narrow network of jungle trails that chaotically 
connect this region. “nurses with little or no training were 
delivering babies,” she explained. “they didn’t know how 
to stop a mother bleeding after delivery, they didn’t know 
sterile technique, they didn’t know how to identify risk 
factors... they needed more and better training.”

in 2009, Medair provided training and supervision to more 
than 400 health clinics every month in Province Orientale, 
from bases in Bunia, Isiro, and Dungu. We supported more 
than one million people with wide-reaching programmes 
including primary health care, medical care for victims of 
sexual violence, and hiV/AiDS counselling and treatment. 

We also ran a major malaria project that covered 184 health 
centres serving 721,000 people, training staff in diagnosis, 
treatment, and prevention, while also distributing 
55,000 mosquito nets.

When a deadly outbreak of bloody diarrhoea struck in 
the village of Amadi, home to 6,000 internally displaced 

persons (iDPs), our staff immediately loaded four 
motorbikes with medicines and set out on the two-day 
trip with the life-saving supplies. “We arrived just in 
time,” said Florentin inikpio Manga, health Supervisor. 
“the health structures had used their last antibiotics the 
day we got there.” 

Safer Motherhood
When Regine returned from her field visit, she began 
working with the regional health authority to design a 
safe motherhood training programme. She invited nurses 
and doctors from four different health centres to our office 
where they all received 10 days of intensive training. 

“After the training, we visited nurses at the health centres 
to refresh and reinforce their new knowledge,” said Regine. 
“those nurses are now more at ease and better able to 
make clinical decisions.”

One day, while Regine was on a supervisory visit to a 
Gombari maternity unit, a woman arrived to give birth. 
She had already given birth to three stillborn babies. 

Prior to their training, medical staff had not fully 
understood how or when to use a partogram—an 
effective tool for assessing the progress of labour to 
reduce complications. But this time, staff used their  
new training with the partogram to follow the woman’s 
labour as it started normally, and then saw when it 
became obstructed. 

As a result, the woman received an emergency C-section 
and gave birth to a healthy child. today, the partogram  
is being used in every health clinic in the Gombari  
health zone.
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In 2009, Medair helped strengthen the national health system and improved the capacity of 
Congolese health staff to support the millions of vulnerable people who are still recovering 
from conflict. 

D.R. Congo
From 1998 to 2003, Africa’s Continental War raged in D.R. Congo. For the ten years from 1998 to 
2008, 5.4 million people died from war-related violence, hunger, and disease. As this depleted 
nation now struggles to rebuild, sporadic conflicts continue to disrupt a fragile peace. the 
longest serving nGO in the region, Medair has actively supported health services in the country 
since 1997.

A Blessing is Never Forgotten
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An Insecure Region
Persistent violent actions from rebel groups impeded our 
ability to access some isolated communities. to avoid 
dangerous confrontations, we frequently had to change our 
plans and alter our routes of travel.

During the year, rebel militia groups forced 100,000 people 
to flee from their homes in the Gety area south of Bunia. 
Some of these vulnerable people had been displaced 10 times 
in the past eight years due to the incessant conflicts. 

Medair intervened in Gety to provide free health care, 
serving far more people than anticipated: 7,000 every 
month. Meanwhile, in Dungu and Doruma, we continued 
to provide free health care to tens of thousands of people 
displaced by violence.  

“A blessing is never forgotten,” said Jean B.G. Dakatina, 
president of Doruma’s displaced persons. “in our Zandé culture, 
it is said that we recognise a friend in difficult times when this 
friend rushes to help. that’s what we see in the work of Medair.”

  For more information about D.R. Congo and Medair’s work 
there, please visit www.medair.org/congo

Photos,  left: nurse Regine on her motorcycle. 
right: Women wait with their children to be seen at a Medair-
supported health clinic in Doruma, D.R. Congo. 

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 1,438,000 

Medair personnel 18 internationally recruited staff    
111 nationally recruited staff

Health Services–Emergency Relief
•  294,000 iDPs given free medical care
•  3 outbreak responses, 272 patients treated
Rehabilitation
•  438 health centres supported each month
•  1,209,000 new patient consultations 
•  67,000 babies delivered
•  251,000 vaccines given to children
•  419,000 preventative consultations for children under 5
•  112,000 people treated for malaria; 55,000 mosquito nets distributed
•  372 nurses and midwives trained
•  761 victims of sexual violence treated 
•  925 people tested and counselled about hiV; 361 supplied with 

antiretroviral medication

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene–Rehabilitation
•  8 health centres received latrine blocks, placenta pits, and waste pits
•  9 water-harvesting systems installed

Shelter and Infrastructure–Rehabilitation
•  7 health centres newly constructed and 4 health centres rehabilitated

Programme Funders

the European Commission’s humanitarian Aid department, EuropeAid 
Cooperation Office of the European Commission, united nations 
Development Programme, united nations Children’s Fund, Pooled Fund/
unOChA, Swiss Solidarity, Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation, 
Global Fund/unDP/Cordaid 
Private: Demaurex & Cie SA-Marchés Aligro (C.h.) 
Gift in Kind: united nations Development Programme, united nations 
Children’s Fund
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“in my lifetime i have never seen devastation like this,” 
said village leader Mohammed Daed. “Seventy homes 
disappeared in one day.”

in the spring of 2009, heavy rains combined with a rapid 
snow melt to trigger deadly landslides and floods in the 
mountain villages of remote Badakhshan province. More 
than 60 people died and countless homes and buildings 
were destroyed.

Medair immediately sent a team on horseback through 
the mud to reach the affected communities and assess 
the overall damage. in Adnil village, a massive landslide 
had struck while the men were at 4 a.m. prayers.  
“We heard shouting and screaming from the women  
and children,” said one of the men. “We ran back and 
saw that our village was collapsing and sliding down  
the mountain.”

Medair responded with an emergency project that benefited 
more than a thousand families with the provision of shelter 
materials, food, and essential household items. 

to reduce the risks of future disasters, we sent an  
assessment team to 75 isolated villages to identify the 
communities that were most at-risk from future disasters. 
this resulted in disaster-risk-reduction training in  
27 of the most at-risk villages. We worked in 
partnership with communities to map out the risks  
and develop emergency plans to reduce the impact of 
future disasters.

“i am most excited because this is the first time that Medair 
has implemented this type of project,” said Medair’s Kaihan 
Majeed. “it is so important to increase the awareness of the 
villagers. up to now, they have not known ways to cope with 
natural disasters. now they will.”

Through Rain and Snow
In Badakhshan and in the Waras district of Bamyan 
province, Medair implemented a comprehensive water, 
sanitation, and hygiene (WASH) programme. However, 
harsh weather was a significant obstacle to Medair’s work. 

Despite access difficulties, Medair handed over 71 new 
wells and 51 spring-protected water points to Waras 
communities in 2009, and trained new water committees 
and pump mechanics. 

Prior to our intervention in Waras, hygiene knowledge 
was minimal. Most people here used dirty surface  
water and many had never used latrines. As a result, we 
expect our efforts to dramatically improve the health of  
the population. 

in 2009, Medair provided basic health services throughout 
Badakhshan province. We constructed a new clinic in Patir, 
and offered training, support, and supervision to Afghan 
health providers. Maternal health was again a major point 
of emphasis, with improvements in referrals between 
clinics, and more women being encouraged to attend 
antenatal and postnatal care.

At the end of the year, Medair was able to successfully 
hand over the entire Badakhshan health programme to 
an Afghan nGO. 

“Six year ago, there were hardly any clinics in this 
remote part of the province,” said Medair’s Johan ten 
hoeve. “today, there are seven health facilities and 
55 health posts. the health care system has become a 
sustainable service that the Ministry of Provincial health 
and local medical providers now have the capacity 
to deliver without our assistance. it’s a remarkable 
improvement for the people.”
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In 2009, Medair responded to emergencies and improved the capacity of communities to reduce 
the risk of future disasters.

Afghanistan
thirty years of conflict have left Afghanistan in a desperate state.  Basic services like health care, 
water, roads, and education have been neglected for far too long. Furthermore, communities are 
isolated from one another because of harsh weather, mountainous terrain, and poor roads. 

Sliding Down the Mountain
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New Life for a Mother and Child

in May, Medair airlifted 22-year-old Bibi leila from a 
small health post to the Faizabad hospital because her 
life was at risk. She needed a C-section because her baby 
had been pronounced dead. 
 
in Faizabad, the ultrasound revealed an astonishing 
result: her baby was still alive. Doctors performed an 
immediate C-section and delivered a baby girl. 

in total, Bibi leila had been in labour for five days, carried 
for hours on a stretcher, flown 100 kilometres by plane, 
and driven 40 minutes by ambulance on rough roads.

“When I was told that my baby was alive, I was flying, so 
happy,” said Bibi leila. “After God, you are the reason 
why my baby and i are alive.”

Programme Funders

The European Commission’s Humanitarian Aid department, World Health 
Organisation, Canadian Foodgrains Bank, EO-Metterdaad (nlD), tEAR 
Fund (n. Z.), Mennonite Central Committee (u.S., CAn), Global Alliance for 
Vaccinations and immunizations (C.h.) 
Private: Demaurex & Cie SA-Marchés Aligro (C.h.), Vontobel Foundation 
(C.h.), Diakonia leiding Foundation (nlD), Gertrude hirzel Foundation (C.h.) 
Gift in Kind: united States Agency for international Development tech-Serve   For more information about Afghanistan and Medair’s work 

there, please visit www.medair.org/afghanistan

Photo:  Deadly landslides and floods in spring 2009 took 60 lives and left 
countless families homeless. 

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 154,320

Medair personnel 10 internationally recruited staff  
179 nationally recruited staff  

Health Services–Emergency Relief
•  1,062 disaster-affected families received one month of food rations 
Rehabilitation
•  7 health facilities and 55 health posts provided access to basic health 

services for 109,100 people
•  186 health workers trained
•  81,857 patients treated
•  444 babies delivered in the clinics
•  9,000 children and pregnant women vaccinated through mobile 

outreach project

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene
Rehabilitation
•  72 hand-dug wells, 144 spring-protected water points installed,  

2 water points repaired
•  652 latrines, 300 household bathrooms built
•  155 community hygiene educators trained; 38,220 people received 

hygiene education
•  186 water committees established

Shelter and Infrastructure–Emergency Relief
•  1,062 disaster-affected families received shelter materials and  

an nFi package 
Rehabilitation
•  31 km of road established
•  1 health clinic newly built
•  730 people received cash-for-work incentives to help restore livelihoods
•  27 villages received disaster-risk-reduction (DRR) training and 

developed a community action plan
•  13,544 students and teachers in 22 schools received DRR training
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in the village of hereeka, 1,400 semi-nomadic herders live 
a difficult life. Water is scarce in many parts of Sudan, but 
here in South Kordofan, the seasonal absence of water 
compels residents to travel south, where they risk friction 
with communities safeguarding their own water supplies. 
When water does flow here, animals and people drink 
from the same troughs, a recipe for illness.

in 2009, Medair consulted with the community and 
together we developed a plan to establish a water yard 
with year-round water access. “the community advised 
us on the design of the water yard, helped during 
construction, and are now responsible for day-to-day 
operations and maintenance,” said Medair’s Jonathan 
Middelbos. “Working in partnership, they can see what 
they have achieved and take pride in the ownership of 
their projects.”

Residents have expressed great enthusiasm for their 
water yard, with its 12 new water taps and four separate 
animal troughs. “the water yard is really helping our 
village to improve,” said hereeka’s Ali Osman. 

South Kordofan
hereeka was one of 10 locations in South Kordofan where 
Medair implemented new water, sanitation, and hygiene 
(WASH) projects in 2009. in March, Medair successfully 
handed over 11 health clinics to local and state authorities, 
a positive step in encouraging sustainable services. this 
handover also allowed our team to expand our area of 
delivery, including 14 new health project locations. 

Accessibility remained a challenge. heavy rains prohibited 
access to many locations like hereeka, sometimes for 

months at a time. Our staff travelled by road over vast 
distances–one of the challenges of working with isolated 
and nomadic communities.

“One day, we set out to find Om Pakhateen, one of 
24 nomadic midwives we supported this year with training 
and supplies,” said Medair’s Rebekka Frick. “We followed 
directions from local residents, and after a long day of 
driving, we ended up on a narrow path that stopped at 
thick bush, with no sign of the midwife. Before giving up, 
i climbed onto the roof of the car and shouted her name 
loudly, hoping her tent might be nearby. 

“After a few minutes, a smiling nomad appeared from the 
bush! he gladly led us to Om Pakhateen and her family, 
who greeted us warmly. We talked with her about her 
recent cases, provided new supplies, and trained her to 
take blood pressure. A successful day in South Kordofan!” 

West Darfur
At the start of 2009, Medair supported 20 primary health 
care facilities in embattled West Darfur, while also running 
WASH projects for more than 150,000 people. During the 
year, Medair expanded our programmes to cover gaps 
in services, adding support for five additional health 
facilities, a WASH project, and an emergency response. 

in the village of Bir Dageeg, security improved enough for 
Medair to rehabilitate and reopen a health clinic that had 
been destroyed in 2007. 

Field access was a continual challenge due to the 
security situation and attacks that targeted humanitarian 
agencies, including three incidents involving Medair. 
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In 2009, Medair helped shoulder the burden of communities in crisis, while working with them 
to implement projects that addressed vital needs and enabled greater independence.

Sudan (Northern States)
Sudan’s northern states are recovering from a long civil war. Access to essential services remains 
limited for millions of residents, and insecurity continues to be a problem in Darfur. Medair is the 
longest serving international NGO present in West Darfur. We adapt our programmes to respond to 
the volatile security environment, the presence or absence of other agencies, and the needs of the 
affected population.

New Hope in Hereeka
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Although the attacks impeded our access and operations, 
we were able to take advantage of windows of opportunity 
to reach and support communities in need.

Our team also responded with a renewed focus on 
capacity building, holding training sessions in El Geneina 
for community health providers, in close collaboration 
with the Ministry of Health. We also trained Water User 
Committees and pump mechanics to operate and manage 
their own water systems. 

“in 2009, we carried out our goal of coming alongside 
communities and shouldering their burdens for a time,” 
concluded Country Director Anne Reitsema, “and together 
we found creative and effective ways to address their 
basic needs.”

  For more information about Sudan (Northern States), 
please visit www.medair.org/sudan-northern-states

Photo:  Medair staff travelled vast distances to reach isolated, nomadic families 
in South Kordofan, Sudan (northern States). 

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 436,500

Medair personnel 26 internationally recruited staff 
334 nationally recruited staff

Health Services–Emergency Relief
West Darfur
•  300,486 consultations in 24 PhC (Primary health Care) clinics 

•  6,591 midwife-assisted deliveries

South Kordofan
•  11 PhC clinics successfully handed over to the health authorities 

•  13,590 children received childhood vaccinations

•  2,130 women of childbearing age received tetanus injections

•  7,100 beneficiaries reached with health messages on bilharzia and 
hiV/AiDS, with 5,300 treated for bilharzia

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene–Emergency Relief
West Darfur
•  155,000 people provided with safe drinking water

•  52 pump mechanics trained and making repairs

•  770 emergency latrines constructed, 6 boreholes drilled

South Kordofan
•  12 boreholes drilled, providing safe water to 19,926 beneficiaries

•  103 pump mechanics trained

Rehabilitation
West Darfur
•  2,648 latrines built or rehabilitated

•  5 boreholes drilled to enable use of 1 water tower and 1 high-capacity 
water yard

South Kordofan
•  1 water yard rehabilitated, providing reliable water for a community of 1,400

•  279 latrines built or rehabilitated plus materials provided for 130 latrines 

•  11,600 people received hygiene promotion training

•  3,600 people assisted through rainwater harvesting systems

Programme Funders

united States Agency for international Development, Department for 
international Development (u.K.), Swedish international Development 
Cooperation, Common humanitarian Fund (unDP), tEAR Fund (n.Z.) 
Private: Demaurex & Cie SA-Marchés Aligro (C.h.) 
Gift in Kind: united nations Children’s Fund
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“My image is in Melut, Southern Sudan, at a clinic beside 
the nile. All around a flat, ochre-coloured universe of dust 
and wind. Suddenly, like flowers on a volcano, colourful 
bows in the black hair of this little girl remind us that 
beauty and poetry can hide everywhere. 
Odile Meylan, photographer for Medair

Dignity and Beauty in the Heart 
of Crisis
in the humanitarian world, vulnerable people who receive aid are labelled “beneficiaries.” their identity is based on what 
they receive, not on who they are as individuals. 

in 2009, Medair acknowledged our 20th anniversary with photography exhibitions that took place in our home country of 
Switzerland. We hosted these exhibitions to honour the extraordinary resilience of our beneficiaries–the unique people 
whom we work alongside every day–and to pay tribute to their strength, their dignity, and to the beauty of their humanity. 

“in countries that are heavily 
affected by war, you get the 
impression that people like to 
be photographed. As though, if 
someone takes a picture of me, 
it means i am alive. it is a kind 
of proof that i exist. the worst 
thing that can happen to these 
people is that we forget them 
completely. it is very important 
to give these people attention, 
to give them a voice.”
Jan-Joseph Stok, photographer for Medair

“My image is in Melut, Southern Sudan, at a clinic beside 
the nile. All around is a flat, ochre-coloured universe 
of dust and wind. Suddenly, like flowers on a volcano, 
colourful bows in the black hair of this little girl remind us 
that beauty and poetry can hide everywhere.” 
Odile Meylan, photographer for Medair
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“i took these photos in 
the early morning in a 
refugee camp in Patongo, 
uganda. there was a 
lot of fog. it took a long 
time for the day’s light to 
appear. in this very special 
atmosphere, people 
were only silhouettes or 
shadows. through the 
mist, they seemed to be on 
borrowed time, waiting for 
relief, waiting to be able to 
come back fully to life.”
Mélanie Frey, photographer for Medair

“i took these photos in 
the early morning in a 
refugee camp in Patongo, 
uganda. there was a 
lot of fog. it took a long 
time for the day’s light to 
appear. in this very special 
atmosphere, people 
were only silhouettes or 
shadows. through the 
mist, they seemed to be on 
borrowed time, waiting for 
relief, waiting to be able to 
come back fully to life.”
Mélanie Frey, photographer for Medair
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When Medair heard reports of recurring measles outbreaks 
in the nomadic communities of Pibor County, our emergency 
response team (ERt) went to work to bring aid to some of the 
hardest-to-reach people in the country. 

to help the Kajibu tribe, Medair staff spent two days 
crossing mountains on a boulder-strewn foot-path that 
was almost impassable. After vaccinating 1,200 children in 
Kajibu, the ERt went looking for the elusive cattle-herding 
camps of the Jie tribe. the team hiked for many hours 
through swampland, under the intense heat of the Sudan 
sun, to find and vaccinate children. 

tracking the Murle nomads was even more difficult. “to 
reach some of their villages,” said Gaby Service, Medair 
ERt nurse, “we had to swim across a river at a point that 
the local people told us was free of crocodiles. We used our 
empty cooking pots to float our equipment across.” 

Despite these difficulties, the mission was a resounding 
success, as our ERt literally went the extra mile to protect 
more than 2,000 of the world’s most vulnerable children. 

We Used to Die in Darkness
Emergency responses were a cornerstone of our work in 
2009. We worked closely with the U.N. and the Ministry 
of health (Moh) to monitor emergencies and respond to 
them quickly. We were able to mobilise teams in less than 
three days to deal with many different kinds of emergencies 
throughout Southern Sudan. 

in March, one of our health ERts vaccinated nearly 
70,000 people in Budi County to prevent meningitis. Our 
WASH (water, sanitation, and hygiene) ERTs provided safe 

sources of drinking water throughout the region, including 
in embattled Akobo where we also ran an emergency 
nutrition programme for malnourished children. 

During our emergency responses, we trained residents 
to assume vital community roles, we upgraded the skills 
of local staff, and in some cases, we focused entire 
interventions on training the population. 

in november, a Medair team trekked through the  
bush in Old Fangak County to educate isolated villages 
on how to identify and prevent the deadly disease, kala 
azar. “We used to die in darkness and did not know of 
what,” said Elisabeth nyayiech Bipal, after the training. 
“But now we know what kala azar is and how we can 
protect ourselves. We can pass on this knowledge  
in our villages and communities and bring light into  
the darkness.”

A Lasting Impact
in 2009, Medair’s WASH teams improved access to safe 
drinking water and sanitation facilities, while training 
hygiene promoters, water committees, and pump 
mechanics in many communities. in Kapoeta South, we 
drilled 10 successful boreholes to provide safe water  
in one of the most guinea worm endemic areas in  
the world. We also constructed 20 latrine blocks for 
schools in Yei, giving almost 4,500 children access to 
sanitation facilities. 

Furthermore, Medair provided comprehensive primary 
health care in numerous clinics in neglected Melut  
and Manyo counties, where Medair was the only  
nGO present. 
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Despite rising insecurity, which hindered access and forced brief evacuations, Medair persisted 
in providing an expansive range of life-saving programmes across Southern Sudan.

Southern Sudan
Southern Sudan has some of the worst indices in the world for nutrition, access to water,  
mother/child health, education, and outbreaks of common preventable diseases. the CPA 
(Comprehensive Peace Agreement) officially ended the civil war between the country’s north and 
south in 2005, but thousands continue to die unnecessarily due to a lack of security and basic 
services. Escalating tribal conflicts made 2009 the most violent year since the CPA was signed.

Going the Extra Mile
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We worked in close alliance with the MoH, local health 
staff, and community leaders to help ensure the long-
term sustainability of our projects.  

in this, our first year in Manyo county, we worked out 
of tiny mud huts until December, when we opened a 
spacious new three-room clinic for the community. 

Meanwhile, in Melut, where we originally provided 
health care directly to vulnerable residents, our role 
transitioned to focus more closely on training and 
supporting the local health staff.

indeed, the Moh in upper nile State identified Medair’s 
capacity building work in Melut as a model on how to 
provide primary health care in other counties.

“Medair is doing a lot of training,” said Ahoch Ayong 
Athon, a newly trained community health worker (CHW) 
in Melut. “A lot of people were not able to get education 
during the war, so it is very nice that Medair trains them. 
if Medair ever had to leave, we would now be stronger 
and more able to manage things ourselves.” 

  For more information about Southern Sudan and Medair’s 
work there, please visit www.medair.org/southern-sudan

Photo:  Medair vaccinated more than 2,000 children in an emergency 
response to a widespread measles outbreak in Southern Sudan. 

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 308,710

Medair personnel 36 internationally recruited staff  
40 Kenyan-recruited staff 
210 nationally recruited staff

Health Services–Emergency Relief
•  20 emergency assessments including 1 nutrition survey

•  12 emergency interventions conducted, benefiting 145,102 people

•  1,577 children treated for malnutrition 

•  540 health staff trained

Rehabilitation
•  59,175 outpatient contacts in 3 PhCCs and 8 PhCus

•  2,306 deliveries assisted with TBAs, midwifes, CHWs

•  9,141 vaccinations done in Melut county

•  20,667 health messages given in clinics and outreach campaigns

•  1,933 people trained in different health topics over 705 days

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene–Emergency Relief
•  7 SWATs (Surface Water Treatment systems) installed;  

35 SWAT operators trained

•  27 boreholes rehabilitated; 21 emergency latrines;  
20 hand-pump mechanics trained 

•  100 Village Water Committee members trained

•  55 new hygiene promoters trained; 77 received refresher training

Rehabilitation
•  14 new working boreholes drilled; 25 hand-pump mechanics trained 

•  20 latrine blocks constructed for schools in Yei, plus 2 water 
distribution systems in Yei

•  121 new hygiene promoters trained; 122 new Village Water Committee 
members trained

Shelter and Infrastructure–Emergency Relief
•  4,241 nFi kits distributed to 21,110 people in upper nile State

Programme Funders

the European Commission’s humanitarian Aid department, Basic Services 
Fund (DFiD, u.K.), Common humanitarian Fund (unDP), united nations 
Children’s Fund, Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation, World 
health Organisation, tearfund (u.K.) 
Gift in Kind: united nations Children’s Fund, international Organisation for 
Migration, World Food Programme
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“For the people of Kaabong, water is paramount. Water is life,” 
says Dr. Eladu Frederick, Kaabong District Production Officer.

in Kaabong, Karamoja, cattle-herders struggle to find 
enough water and pasture for their herds. they watch the 
skies anxiously every year for rain that will water their small 
fields of crops and for their livestock. 

Faced with another year of deadly drought in 2009, Medair 
decided to try something new, something that had never 
before been tried in Uganda. Working in partnership with 
local community leaders and labourers, Medair built four 
dams underneath sandy riverbeds. 

these sub-surface dams trap water in the sand during the 
brief rainy season, then prevent the water from running 
downstream or evaporating. the water is retained in the 
sand just below the surface.

“All the Karamajong herders now need to do is dig 
a shallow hole and water immediately percolates 
into it, providing water for their livestock,” said Phil 
Candy, Medair’s Project Manager. “this is an effective, 
inexpensive, and long-lasting solution. With no moving 
parts, the dams require little or no maintenance.” 

the project has been such a success that government and 
other agencies are now investigating the potential life-
saving impact of constructing more sub-surface dams in 
Karamoja. “Medair introduced a new technology which the 
district had never thought of,” said a grateful Dr. Frederick.

Restoring Independence and Dignity
Elsewhere in Kaabong, Medair improved access to safe 
drinking water and constructed hundreds of latrines. 

to help break the cycle of dependence on free food 
distributions, we conducted several cash-for-work projects. 
local residents rehabilitated 42 kilometres of roads and 
made other infrastructure improvements—while earning 
an income. Farmers in the wetter western area of Kaabong 
received seeds and tools to boost their opportunity to earn 
a livelihood.

Medair closed or handed over long-running programmes in 
Pader and Abim districts during the year. Security improved 
so substantially that, by the end of 2009, 80 percent of 
people had returned to their villages of origin. 

this was Medair’s final year in Acholiland, and the team 
worked diligently to conclude our projects and ensure 
that we left a long-lasting and positive impact. in 2009 
alone, Medair drilled new boreholes, helped people create 
household latrines, constructed school latrines, taught 
good hygienic practices, responded to outbreaks of polio 
and hepatitis E, worked with vulnerable children to improve 
their life chances, and built up the capacity of the health 
care system. 

A Safe Journey Back Home
As we left Acholiand in 2009, we left knowing that 
the knowledge and capacity of local communities had 
increased substantially since we first arrived. health, water, 
sanitation, hygiene, and child-protection programmes had 
been established, health staff had been better trained, and 
local knowledge of health and hygiene had vastly improved. 

“through Medair, i learned about the threat of hepatitis E  
and how to prevent it,” said 45-year-old Alicandorina 
Ajok, a widowed mother of six. “now that i have received 
jerry cans, i am able to collect and store water in clean 
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As security conditions improved, Medair departed from Acholiland—a region once considered 
the most neglected humanitarian crisis in the world—while bringing an innovative water project 
to drought-affected Karamoja.

Uganda
For two decades, the lord’s Resistance Army (lRA) abducted children and committed other 
atrocities across Acholiland in northern uganda. At the height of the conflict, more than one 
million people lived in overcrowded displacement camps. in September 2006, the lRA withdrew 
from uganda, and since then, Medair has helped people return to their villages. People in  
semi-arid Kaabong, Karamoja have limited access to safe water or sanitation and have suffered 
through four years of drought.

Water is Life
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Programme Funders

the European Commission’s humanitarian Aid department, Swiss Agency 
for Development and Cooperation, united States Agency for international 
Development, Mercy Corps (u.S.), united nations Children’s Fund, Swiss 
Solidarity, uniCEF uganda 
Gift in Kind: united nations Children’s Fund

containers. i have noticed already that my children have 
fewer stomach illnesses!” 

in 2009, we also made infrastructure improvements that 
will strengthen Medair’s legacy in Acholiland, serving 
communities for years to come. At Rogom primary school, 
for instance, we built latrines and rehabilitated the water 
tank. We also supplied learning materials for the children, 
and provided education to adults about how to protect 
children’s rights and keep schools safe for girls and boys. 

“We are very happy to see you here, and happy that you 
have improved our sanitation,” said Benito Summy Epuia, 
a student at Rogom school. “We also thank you for helping 
keep us safe. i wish you a safe journey back home!”

  For more information about Uganda and Medair’s work 
there, please visit www.medair.org/uganda

Photo:  Children watch with interest as a Medair staff helps construct new 
latrines for their primary school.  

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 340,292 

Medair personnel 8 internationally recruited staff 
103 nationally recruited staff

Health Services–Emergency Relief
•   28,106 children vaccinated in a polio outbreak response

Rehabilitation
•   115,222 people accessed health care in Medair-supported health clinics

•   3,447 pregnant women received antenatal care 

•   10,951 children received routine vaccinations 

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene–Emergency Relief
•   103,000 people received jerry cans, soap, and hygiene promotion in a 

hepatitis E outbreak response

Rehabilitation
•   13 boreholes drilled, benefiting 19,500 people

•   1 pump installed in a hospital, benefiting 30,000 people 

•   18 pump mechanics trained

•   20 school latrines and 1,227 household latrines constructed, benefiting 
7,828 people

•   115 people trained as Water User Committee members

•   3 health centre latrines constructed, benefiting 10,000 people 

Shelter and Infrastructure–Rehabilitation
•   5,354 people benefited directly from a cash-for-work programme 

•   7 roads, 50 cattle troughs, and 4 sub-surface dams constructed

•   395 people trained in child protection issues

•   6,270 vulnerable children given clothes, school supplies, and goats
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“if the 17,000 villages of Madagascar were all prepared 
like this for cyclones and flooding, we could sleep 
peacefully through the cyclone season,” said Jaotiana 
Rasolomamonjy, national Office of DRR, after Medair ran 
simulations of a cyclone emergency response.

Before the simulations, we listened to residents to 
formulate a plan for how to prepare for cyclones. We 
then coordinated a two-day simulation for residents and 
authorities to learn through practice such things as where 
to go when a cyclone hits, whom to contact, and how to 
protect food, livestock, and water points. 

“it’s impressive to see the impact of the simulation and 
how well it is organised,” said Jaotiana. “What struck 
us especially was to see how well the local people were 
included and understood the messages.” 

that kind of positive assessment reinforces the strength of 
Medair’s participatory approach in Madagascar. “Our work 
hinges on the dynamic participation of our beneficiaries 
and the involvement of local authorities,” said Country 
Director Aurélien G. Demaurex. “We provide training that 
empowers people to work together to improve their own 
hygiene, sanitation, and security.” 

Fiaro Tsara (Good Protection)
throughout the year, Medair trained local educators, 
committees, and women’s groups about DRR and 
hygiene promotion. in turn, trainers spread the word 
to thousands of people through workshops, puppet 
shows, radio, and films. We maintained a rapid-
response capacity in case of cyclones, stockpiled 
emergency supplies, and built hundreds of cyclone-

resistant water points. And in April, those preparations 
were put to the test.

Cyclone Jade struck the northeast coast on 6 April, bringing 
severe flooding that affected thousands of residents. Our 
emergency team distributed water-purification and hygiene 
supplies (WASH kits) to 1,426 households in the flooded 
village of Anjanzana. 

“We have stocked 4,000 WASH kits for over a year 
to be able to respond without delay to flood-affected 
communities such as Anjanzana," said Medair’s Dr. David 
Sauter. "Equally encouraging is that the new Medair-
installed ’waterproof’ water points in many municipalities 
have been so effective at preventing contamination.”

in another positive development, our infrastructure team 
overcame significant logistical challenges to build an 
innovative cyclone-resistant shelter in Anjanzana—plus six 
more in other vulnerable villages. 

Rano Tsara (Good Water)
in 2009, Medair supported the construction of 229 new 
water points, including two gravity-fed water systems. 
One was in the remote village of Sakatihina—a three-hour 
journey from Maroantsetra town by dugout canoe. 

When we officially handed over the system to the community, 
residents welcomed us with jubilant songs and ceremonies. 
“Village leaders thanked God and expressed immense 
recognition for our support in answering their long-time need 
for safe drinking water,” said Medair’s Claudel Mbotivelo, 
Deputy WASH Manager. “We were so happy to share in the joy 
of the recipients as they embraced their new water system.” 
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In northeast Madagascar, Medair improved access to safe water and sanitation, brought 
emergency relief when cyclones struck, and worked to reduce the risk of future cyclones through 
disaster-risk-reduction (DRR) activities. 

Madagascar
Madagascar is one of the poorest countries in the world: 85 percent of its people live on less than  
uSD 2 per day. tropical cyclones threaten the island every year, with the Analanjirofo region in the 
northeast especially vulnerable. the recurrent cyclone damage makes it difficult for the population 
to rise out of poverty. in 2009, a major political crisis began that has destabilised the country, 
increasing poverty and delaying some of Medair’s work.

Learning Through Simulations and Songs
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Song Competition
in June, Medair helped organise a large-scale song and 
dance competition. Choirs performed original songs that 
promoted the message of how to prepare for a cyclone.

“We wanted people to not only understand the message 
but also hear it, live it, and make it their own,” said 
Medair’s noémie Arnold. “And did they ever!”

the atmosphere was electric on the performance day, as more 
than 1,000 people came to sing, dance, or listen to the concert. 

“i heard about the song contest and i really wanted the women 
from my village to get involved,” said 26-year-old landria. 
“learning the song was a way for me to find out what to do 
before a cyclone hits and causes flooding. the lyrics talk 
about the health and safety measures we can take to protect 
ourselves from cyclones and the diseases they bring.”

At the end of the day, the award for best song went to the 
singers from Maranina village, who received a zebu (cow) 
as the winning prize. “in truth, everyone wins when there’s 
so much community involvement in an inspiring activity like 
this,” said Noémie. “When cyclones come, people will more 
easily remember what to do because they know the songs.” 

Programme Funders

EuropeAid Cooperation Office of the European Commission, Swiss 
Agency for Development and Cooperation, the European Commission’s 
humanitarian Aid department

  For more information about Madagascar and Medair’s work 
there, please visit www.medair.org/madagascar

Photo: Women participate wholeheartedly in Medair’s song competition.

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 285,000

Medair personnel 10 internationally recruited staff 
83 nationally recruited staff

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene–Emergency Relief
•  6,000 people received WASH kits and emergency hygiene promotion 
Rehabilitation
•  229 new flood-proof boreholes drilled and fitted with hand pumps  

and drainage
•  2 gravity-fed water-supply systems built with hand-washing facilities 

at a school 
•  468 family latrines installed, 504 family latrines Eco-San adapted 
•  5 schools equipped with hand-washing facilities
•  74 women’s associations and 262 hygiene volunteers trained in 

hygiene promotion
•  21,740 adults and 10,198 children reached directly with hygiene 

promotion sessions
•  169,530 people reached with hygiene promotion through 345 puppet 

show or film campaigns, plus 110,000 had access through radio
•  22 WASH workshops about technical, management, and  

governance issues 
•  77 village WASH committees formed or supported 
•  20 local disaster and risk management committees, 10 communal 

committees, and 1 district committee coached to define a plan for 
cyclone risk

•  9 training workshops for disaster and risk management committees
•  20 local committees given emergency supplies 

Shelter and Infrastructure–Rehabilitation
•  7 flood-resistant refuge houses built (200 people per house)
•  34 small bridges rehabilitated, 2 km of trenches dug, and 1 city waste 

management project set up 
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“We are used to earthquakes, we often feel the earth 
tremble,” said 70-year-old Zaenab, who lives with her 
brother M. nur, a blind Muslim elder, in the village of lubuk 
Puar. “But this was a much bigger earthquake than we had 
ever experienced. We were very scared.”

On 30 September, a series of three powerful earthquakes 
struck and severely damaged West Sumatra province. 
Some villages were levelled or buried in the subsequent 
landslides. in total, more than 1,000 people died, and 
280,000 families lost their homes.

“After the earth 
stopped shaking, we 
rushed to our house,” 
said Zaenab. “At the 
back, the walls had 
completely collapsed. 
if we had been in the 
house, the result would 
have been horrific. 
instead, we are alive, 
but homeless.”

Medair immediately sent an assessment team and decided 
to assist homeless families with the building of transitional 
shelters (t-shelters), to be carried out in partnership with a 
local implementing nGO, Cipta Fondasi Komunitas (CFK).

Earlier in 2009, our indonesia team had concluded work 
on 600 sanitation systems in Aceh Jaya, and closed the 
indonesia programme. 

“Now we are supporting a new intervention in West 
Sumatra, including the design of t-shelters and the 
development of training materials on earthquake-resistant 
construction techniques,” said Mark Wooding, Medair’s 
Reconstruction Advisor. 

the Sumatra t-shelters use an innovative earthquake-
resistant design that relies on recycled materials from the 
demolition process along with timber from mature coconut 
trees harvested on each property. 

“We expect that many of the T-shelters will actually become 
a core house that can be developed into a more permanent 
home, or a ‘house that grows,’” said Mark. 

in December, Zaenab and her extended family were chosen 
to be the recipients of the first t-shelter. Swift progress was 
made on the construction because community members 
joined together to help build the shelter. 

And so, by the end of the year, Zaenab and her family left 
their tent for a safer place to sleep, in the first of what will be 
many shelters here for families in lubuk Puar near Pariaman.

Indonesia
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After four years of relief and rehabilitation in Indonesia, Medair departed in July, only to return 
later in the year when three major earthquakes struck in short succession.

Indonesia
indonesia is frequently hit by natural disasters. in recent years, the country has seen earthquakes, 
tsunamis, and volcanoes, which have had a devastating impact on an already vulnerable population.

We Often Feel the Earth Tremble

  For more information about Indonesia and Medair’s work 
there, please visit www.medair.org/indonesia

Photo:  Zaenab stands with her brother, M. nur, in front of their collapsed house. 

Programme Highlights
total beneficiaries in 2009 1,936

Medair personnel 6 internationally recruited staff 
14 nationally recruited staff

Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene–Rehabilitation
•  302 bathing and latrine units repaired
•  383 treatment gardens rehabilitated
•  318 people trained about their sanitation system (1st round);  

582 people trained (2nd round) 

Shelter and Infrastructure–Rehabilitation
•  10 people trained to train local communities about t-shelter design 

and construction

•  1 community tool-kit distributed
•  1 t-shelter constructed

Programme Funders

Swiss Solidarity, tearfund (u.K.)  
Private: Demaurex & Cie SA-Marchés Aligro (C.h.)
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Beneficiary Accountability
At Medair, accountability is one of our core values. We hold 
ourselves accountable to our funding partners, to other 
nGOs, to local governments, and—most importantly—to  
our beneficiaries. 

in the past, some humanitarian agencies would impose 
their own well-intentioned plans to try to “solve” a 
country’s problems, without considering the will or 
capacities of the communities in question, or the 
potentially adverse consequences that their plans 
might have on individuals and communities. today, the 
humanitarian sector thankfully places a high value on 
beneficiary accountability.

Accountability in Madagascar
in Medair’s Madagascar programme, for instance, beneficiaries 
themselves are at the centre, or heart, of every project. 
Beneficiaries are not simply involved in Medair projects; rather, 
Medair is involved in supporting the communities’ projects.

Evidence of this can be seen at the entrance of villages 
where Medair has construction sites in progress: large 
signboards prominently display all project details and 
names of key project participants. 

local capacity building teams work to improve communication 
among all partners–Medair, local authorities, and beneficiaries. 
the capacity building teams also facilitate a process that 
enables beneficiaries to report problems, voice complaints, and 
provide feedback and suggestions to decision-making groups 
of beneficiaries. the Medair teams support beneficiaries during 
their decision-making processes and help ensure that those 
decisions are reported back to other beneficiaries. 

Medair is transparent about the selection of the local 
drilling company, construction-site supervision, and the 
people who will repair and maintain the infrastructure.
Radio programmes also allow issues to be clarified publicly. 
Medair teams gather feedback from beneficiaries, report 
it to sector managers, and share reactions on the radio to 
give beneficiaries a better understanding of projects. in one 
of our live radio programmes in 2009, we gave beneficiaries 
the opportunity to call the station to ask their questions or 
comment “on-air.”

in Madagascar, as in all of our country programmes, 
beneficiary accountability is an integral component of 
everything we do. this is one of the most important ways 
we acknowledge and honour the innate dignity of the 
people we are privileged to work alongside every day.

Medair is a full member of the humanitarian Accountability 
Partnership international. this means that we include 
communities in the decision-making process around what 
projects should be run, and we involve them in the design, 
implementation, and monitoring of those projects. We 
communicate openly and make it convenient for people to 
provide suggestions or complaints about a particular project. 

As an international nGO, we recognise that we have the 
power to effect major changes in people’s lives and in their 
communities. With that power comes the responsibility to 
conduct ourselves with humility, and with respect for the 
people we have come to assist—a respect that makes us 
accountable to them for our actions. 

Rano Tsara (Good Water) Project,  
Maroantsetra District, Madagascar

Medair staff travel by bike to meet with local committees on the Rano tsara project.

the village capacity building team supports the local authorities in deciding 
which drilling company to hire and where to place the water pumps.

A Medair staff interviews a local resident to receive his input on the clean-water 
project in his village.
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“God called me to Congo 20 years ago,” says Marian, 
who left her home in the netherlands just two years out 
of medical school and moved to a small village in the 
rainforest of northeastern D.R. Congo. there she worked 
in a small hospital for four years until she had to flee 
at the start of the war in 1996. “i worked in different 
medical jobs in holland for a year, until i heard about 
Medair,” she says.

During the war, the only way to work in D.R. Congo was 
through humanitarian organisations. “Medair was the one 
that fitted for me because of its mission and its values, and 
because it works in the same area where i learned to love 
the Congolese people,” she says. “For me, Medair made it 
possible to obey God’s call even in the years of war.” 

twelve years later, Marian and Medair are still there. 
“Going through more than five years of war surely made an 
impression on my personality,” she says. “it leaves scars, 
but i think it also made me stronger, through my experience 
that God helps out in any situation.”

Marian finds great inspiration in the spiritual strength of 
the Congolese people. “After the destruction of war, they 
have the strength to rebuild,” she says. “Even in places 
where horrible massacres took place, people return. in one 
such place, nyankunde, more than 1,000 people were killed 

As we mark our 20th anniversary, meet some of our longest serving field staff. These eight 
inspiring people are dedicated in their support and service to the world’s most vulnerable.

Sitting at a desk is not where Anwar prefers to be. 

Anwar, an Afghan with a master’s degree in civil 
engineering, has played a vital hands-on role with 
Medair for the past 11 years. “i started with Medair 
overseeing the design and construction of several 
projects,” he says. “later, i was able to move into 
other roles in different sectors, working on community 
mobilisation, WASH (water, sanitation, and hygiene), 
food security, and cash-for-work projects. i have also 
worked on the construction of schools, clinics, bridges, 
roads, and other structures for Medair.” 

When winter comes, Anwar spends most of the season 
in the Kabul office managing staff training, monitoring 
reports, and planning projects. “i am a field person,” 
he says. “So, my lows are in the winter when i am in the 
office. We get English and computer training, which is 
very valuable, but i prefer to be out in the field.” 

Anwar’s expertise and experience have led to the completion 
of numerous successful projects. in one memorable project, 
Anwar’s team worked from sunrise to sunset for about 
10 weeks to construct a large number of water points in a 
very short time. “there was great team spirit,” he recalls. 
“the team came together and worked very hard to complete 
the project. in the end, we were able to construct more water 
points than we originally planned and were very successful.” 

Anwar notes that Medair’s projects have grown in scale 
and complexity over the years. “We have gone from small 
technical training to very large WASH projects and many 
other things,” he says. “Also, with experience we have 
much higher quality projects now.”

When his fellow Afghans ask Anwar about Medair, he 
tells them the story of Koh e Beron: “Before Medair was 
involved, the people of Koh e Beron were very isolated,” 
he says. “now a huge change has been seen with water, 
health, and road projects. this paints a good picture for 
the people... and there are many more stories like this!”

Enduring Commitments

Dr. Marian Wetshay- 
van der Snoek
Field technical Advisor 
(health)
D.R. Congo
1998 to present

Anwar Rahimi 
technical Construction 

 and Project Advisor
Afghanistan

1999 to present
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Enduring Commitments

in 2002. now, the hospital is building up again, and they 
have a very good team.”

“We really have learned that investing in people is the  
best thing to do: many of the material investments we did  
in the years before 2002-2003 were destroyed in those  
bad years, but the investments in people—those who 
survived—continues to be used, as their capacity has  
grown significantly.”

And there has been one other important development for 
Marian: “in 2006, i met my future husband in a very small 
church in Bunia, where he had come from Kinshasa to work 
for three months. We have now been happily married for 
two years!”

Originally from Kenya, Sophia has been working all over 
Sudan long enough to consider it the place she belongs. 
however, she still remembers how different it was when she 
first arrived. “i worked in Kenya as a nurse for four years where 
i was used to seeing people suffering from various illnesses,” 
she says. “But the people in Sudan not only suffered from 
diseases, they also faced many other needs.” 

From 1999 to 2000, Sophia worked in a highly insecure 
area across the “conflict line,” when the borders 
between north and south had not yet been drawn and the 
military controlled different zones. “One time, i had to 
run in the bush for almost 48 hours due to insecurity,” 
she says. “But in Medair, we always go to those difficult 
places where few others are willing to go.”

Since then, Sophia has worked in Sudan’s northern 
states and in the south, and her tasks have varied from 
medical support in clinics to emergency interventions. 
her duties have gradually increased too, from practical 
nursing to training, and from supervising to managing.

“i used to do field work, like giving out non-food items to 
displaced persons,” she says. “Just knowing that a child 
would sleep under a mosquito net and therefore not get 
malaria brought me moments of joy.”

in her most recent field intervention, Sophia facilitated 
the provision of 500 blankets for kala azar patients 
during extremely cold weather. “in my new position, i am 
happy to be able to support the team—to go out there 
and respond to the needs that we find,” she says.

“Medair staff are dedicated; we have a passion for what 
we do,” she concludes. “When we get to the beneficiaries, 
we identify with them. And when you make that kind of 
difference in somebody’s life, you experience joy.”

Adam, a Sudanese citizen, first started working for Medair 
in 2002. then, in 2003, an armed group kidnapped him and 
four other Medair staff members in Darfur. 

the abductors held them hostage in a forest, where 
Adam endured abuse and a 15-day forced march.

While Adam was held captive, Medair’s country director 
visited Adam’s family three times every day, providing 
reassurances, and insisting that Medair would do 
everything they could to see Adam home safely.

Finally, Adam was released. he soon heard about 
Medair’s frequent visits with his family, and realised 
that at Medair, he was more of a family member than an 
employee: “i will never forget what Medair did for my 
family while i was away,” he says.

Over the following six years, Adam demonstrated his 
value and loyalty again and again. he worked his way 
from translating in the field to becoming a project 
assistant (clinic management) to his current position as a 
project officer. Adam is now in charge of nine clinics with 
36 clinic staff, and he also trains all of the village health 
committees (VHCs) in Medair’s West Darfur project. 

Adam’s abilities have not gone unnoticed. he has 
received numerous job offers from the u.n. and other 
agencies in Darfur, all of which he has turned down.  
“i am not driven by money, although it is important for 
life,” he says. “i’m very happy with the way things are 

Sophia Kahinga
ERt health Project Manager

Southern Sudan
1999 to 2004;  

2006 to present

Adam Gelal Edin Alias
Project Officer
Sudan (northern States)
2002 to present
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done at Medair. i gain a lot of satisfaction from seeing 
the impact of successful projects.” 

Working at Medair, Adam has gained new English 
language skills, self-confidence, and the belief that 
nothing is impossible.

As a Muslim, Adam appreciates that Medair carries out 
its humanitarian work without any political or religious 
agenda. “Medair does human work for human beings,” he 
says. “Despite different religious backgrounds, the team 
spirit is so strong that we all come together as one.”

that it is impossible to fully understand the conflicts, as so 
many factors play a role.”

Still, the great strides she and her team have made help 
put things in perspective. “We have been able to feed and 
vaccinate thousands and thousands of children,” she says. 
“Many of them were sick and very malnourished and they 
survived because of Medair’s programme. All these positives 
outweigh the challenges and motivate me to continue!”

henrieke used to work in the netherlands as a nurse.  
Yet somehow, she felt she needed to do something more. 
“i grew up in a wealthy country with all the love a child 
needs and education i wanted,” she says. “to be able 
to use the gifts God has given me for people who are 
suffering is a great privilege.”

Six years ago she started working as a health officer for 
Medair in Zimbabwe and then moved to uganda after 
six months. Over time, she received more and more 
responsibilities. “i had always said i would never do any 
management, but after a while, you just grow into things 
and think, i can handle this,” she says. “that’s another thing 
about Medair. if they see potential in you, they just keep 
developing you, and they give you the opportunity to grow.”

After three-and-a-half years, henrieke moved to Somalia 
to help start up Medair’s health and nutrition projects, and 
now she has become the country director. her job involves 
meeting donors and local authorities, developing programme 
strategies, writing proposals and reports—as well as being 
responsible for security, staff management, and finances. “On 
a professional level, i have learned many things that i wouldn’t 
have had a clue about if i had continued with my work back 
home,” she says. “i’ve really enjoyed it.”

“i have also learned how grey the world is,” she adds. 
“From the safe world back home, it is easy to have an 
opinion on things going on in the world. But when working 
in these countries, you realise how complicated it is and 

“i’m not sure that we consciously decided to work in the 
humanitarian sector,” explain hylton and Avril Cannon, a 
husband-and-wife team who first joined Medair in 2004. 
“it was more as though we were led into it.”

the South African couple, married for 27 years, have 
worked for Medair in iran, Pakistan, indonesia, and now 
have moved on to Zimbabwe. “While our job titles have  
not really changed over the years,” says hylton, “we have 
had to take on quite a few additional roles and have ended 
up doing project management, h.R., logistics, i.t. Actually 
the term ’jack-of-all-trades’ hits the nail on the head.”

Relief work is often fraught with challenges, so their advice 
to prospective couples is to be sure that their marriage is 
strong enough to handle the difficulties that might arise.

“As a married couple, you need be sensitive to the fact 
that most or sometimes all of the team are single,” 
says Avril. “You have a partner to share all your ups and 
downs with, but the single person does not have that.”

“For me, when dealing with Avril’s position, i have to 
concentrate on being her manager,” adds hylton, “and not let 
the fact that she is my wife interfere with my decision-making.” 

they have met these and many other challenges well. “in 
Kashmir, our task was to build 11 schools, three of which had 
very limited or no road access. Even the evaluator said he 
doubted all the schools would ever get done,” says hylton. 
“But we completed all 11, and were the only nGO to build that 
many—or even complete its promised quota at the time. this 
was a huge success for Medair and for the Pakistan team.” 

Henrieke Hommes
Country Director

Somalia/Somaliland
2004 to present

Hylton and Avril Cannon
Country Director and 
Project Support Manager
2004 to present

MEDAIR   Annual Review 200938   



Enduring Commitments

“Mama” Eva is now in her 13th year with Medair uganda, and 
she’s certainly seen some changes over that time. “it has 
grown!” she reports enthusiastically. “in the first days, we 
had only enough funding to give out jerry cans, and transport 
was challenging because Medair had only one car.”

Eva’s responsibilities have grown too. “i started with 
only cooking and cleaning,” she says. “then i started to 
buy the vegetables as well. now, i also do more planning 
and preparing weekly and monthly food shopping lists.” 

in addition to these duties, Eva has travelled away from Kampala 
to train the local cooks at remote field locations like Abim. 
indeed, one of those cooks later went on to start her own 
restaurant services business. “training Catherine to cook is one 
of my big successes,” she says. “She can cook very well now.”

Eva likes it when people work with her in the kitchen, 
so they can see how she cooks and what ingredients 
she uses. But she also likes to keep her recipes secret. 
“Often people have begged her for a recipe after one of 
her many delicious meals, but she just smiles nicely at 
them,” says Medair’s Steffie van der Bijl.

Eva says one of her major challenges is preparing enough 
food for unexpected guests and staff who eat too much! 
Of course, in that regard she may be a victim of her own 
success because the staff love her cooking so much.

For Eva, highlights of her job include going out to eat dinner 
with the team, and one time years ago when she travelled to 
an island with staff: “it was my first time on a boat!” she says. 

Most of all, Eva appreciates the supportive people she 
works with and the overall team unity. “Often when 
people leave Medair to work elsewhere,” she says, “they 
refer back to the good time they had here.”

tsotso, a Madagascar citizen, studied community 
development in Switzerland. While he was there he met 
the founders of Medair and urged them to intervene in 
Madagascar to support the highly vulnerable population. 
After careful consideration, Medair agreed that the needs 
were significant and opened a programme in Madagascar. 
tsotso has been working for the organisation ever since. 
his wide range of skills have been put to good use in 
community development, capacity building, public 
relations, and now management.

“i like Medair’s mission and the Christian aspect where i can 
combine the heart, the thought, and the hands,” he says. 

One of tsotso’s favourite aspects of working with Medair 
is the sense of family among the team. “here, i have the 
impression of being in a family with everyone, regardless 
of their positions or backgrounds,” he says. “that makes 
it easier for us to tackle our objectives in a focused way, 
where each person can do their best.” 

Perhaps it’s no surprise that the team feels like a family, 
since tsotso’s wife works for Medair as well. “Our family 
and friends are glad to see us doing something helpful 
for the population, where we concretely put our Christian 
values into action,” he says. “the sector where Medair 
intervenes is a poor sector, with little support from the 
government, so that also makes the family proud.” 

Reflecting on Medair’s impact in his country, tsotso tells 
the story of Andranafotsy, a village where Medair built 
a water point in 2004 after a cyclone. Afterward, health 
improved in the village, especially for children. “But when 
the pump broke in 2008, people went back to the river to 
drink. the illnesses, which had almost vanished, 
soon reappeared and struck the children.

“in 2009, our hygiene promoters went to Andranafotsy 
and educated the residents about the importance of safe 
drinking water. the people listened and decided to raise 
money to repair their pump. that’s why all of the education 
that we do is so important–it’s the key to long-term safe 
water access for the people of Madagascar.” 

“All the projects we have worked on are memorable to us 
in their own unique way,” concludes Avril. “One does not 
go and assist the needy, helping to bring them through 
the devastation and loss, giving them back hope and 
dignity, and go away untouched.” 

Tsotso Rakotonjatovo
Deputy Project Manager
MADAGASCAR
2002 to present

Eva Kyalimpa
Senior housekeeper

uganda
1997 to present
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“Medair are doing terrific work 
in delivering services to the 
people of Southern Sudan and 
in supporting local authorities. 
I came away quite humbled by 
what your teams have achieved 
and at the same time more 
energised to ensure such work 
is supported further.” 

As you have read in this annual report, Medair runs a broad 
range of programmes in numerous vulnerable countries.  
in doing so, we helped save and sustain the lives of more 
than three million people in 2009.

however, the cost of running these programmes is a 
significant expense, especially because we work in some 
of the hardest-to-access and most insecure regions of the 
world. indeed, our work is made possible only because of 
the financial support of dedicated funding partners.  Some 
of our funding partners are large, visionary institutions, 
while others are individuals who give generously from their 
own funds to support our work.

We make ourselves accountable to our institutional donors 
by opening our offices and records to them at their request, 
so that they can conduct required audits of our work.  
in 2009, for instance, Medair underwent 53 audits globally. 

Some institutional donors also want to see our 
country programmes in action. For example, donor 
representative Julius Court travelled with Medair staff 
on a four-day boat trip on the nile River to visit five of 
our primary health clinic projects in Melut and Manyo 
counties in Southern Sudan. Julius represented the Joint 
Donor team (JDt), which comprises the coordinated 
humanitarian efforts in Southern Sudan of six different 
governments: Canada, Denmark, the netherlands, 
norway, Sweden, and the united Kingdom. 

Photos, from left to right:
1.  Julius Court of the Joint Donor team accompanies Medair on visits to 

remote primary health clinics in Southern Sudan. 
2.  Steve Moore of the Malaria Consortium joins Julius in reviewing clinic 

records while a patient waits her turn with clinic staff. 
3.  Julius watches as a clinic staff provides medicine to a young patient.
4.  Julius stands alongside Sudanese beneficiaries in front of a  

health clinic.

After his visit, Julius sent us this evaluation:

Visit from a Medair Partner

1 2
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Multi-donor Partnerships
•  Basic Services Fund, Southern Sudan  

(Department for international Development, u.K.) 
•  Common humanitarian Fund, Southern Sudan  

(united nations Development Programme)
•  Common humanitarian Fund, Sudan (northern States) 

(united nations Development Programme)
•  Pooled Fund, D.R. Congo  

(u.n. Office for the Coordination of humanitarian Affairs)
•  Global Fund, D.R. Congo  

(united nations Development Programme, Catholic 
Organisation for Relief and Development Aid, nlD)

United Nations Partners
•  united nations Children’s Fund
•  World Health Organisation
•  united nations Development Programme
•  u.n. Office for the Coordination of humanitarian Affairs
•  uniCEF uganda

 Government Partners
•  the European Commission’s humanitarian Aid department
•  united States Agency for international Development
•  Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation
•  EuropeAid Cooperation Office of the European Commission
•  Department for international Development (u.K.)
•  Swedish international Development Cooperation

Institutional Partners
•  Swiss Solidarity 
•  Mercy Corps (u.S.) 
•  Canadian Foodgrains Bank
•  EO-Metterdaad (nlD)
•  tEAR Fund (n.Z.)
•  tearfund (u.K.)
•  Mennonite Central Committee (u.S., CAn)
•  Global Alliance for Vaccinations and immunizations (C.h.)

Private Sector Partners
•  Demaurex & Cie SA-Marchés AliGRO (C.h.)
•  Oak Foundation (C.h.)
•  Seneff Family Foundation (u.S.) 
•  Pierre Demaurex Foundation (C.h.)
•  Vontobel Foundation (C.h.) 
•  the Reed Foundation (u.K.)
•  Miss S.F. Morfield Charitable trust (u.K.)
•  Diakonia leiding Foundation (nlD)
•  Emeraude international (FRA)
•  Gertrude hirzel Foundation (C.h.) 

Gift-in-Kind Partners
•  united nations Children’s Fund 
•  united nations Development Programme
•  World Food Programme
•  international Organisation for Migration
•  united States Agency for international Development tech-Serve

Funding Partners 2009 in descending order of donation size within 
each category (≥ uSD 20,000).

We wish to thank our individual private donors for their generous support, without which we could not fulfil our mission.

3 4 
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Accreditations and Affiliations

Solidarité Urgence Développement  

ISO 9001:2000 certification, Worldwide
this certification signifies that Medair effectively 
delivers goods and services with a focus on 
beneficiary needs.

ZEWO, Switzerland
ZEWO certification, only available to state-
approved Swiss organisations, testifies to the 
intended and effective use of private donations. 
ZEWO certification testifies to the integrity of 
Medair’s publications and fund appeals.  
ZEWO standards call for optimal accounting and 
operational transparency, confirmed by continuous 
independent monitoring.

RfB, The Netherlands
the RfB certification gives donors a high degree 
of certainty that resources received by Medair 
netherlands are used for the purpose for which 
they were given. 

Awards

 Intelligent Giving, U.K.
this independent donor advice organisation has 
rated Medair u.K. its no. 1 ranked religious charity 
and no. 1 ranked international charity since 2008.

Memberships

Algemeen Nut Beogende Instelling
the Dutch government has granted the AnBi-status 
to Medair netherlands. 

ASAH, France 
ASAh is a collective of faith-based organisations 
dealing in international solidarity in fields  
such as humanitarian aid, international 
cooperation and development, fair-trade, and 
societal re-integration. 

CONCORD
Medair’s Eu-CORD membership gives it 
membership into COnCORD, the European 
confederation for relief and development. 

Coordination SUD, France
Medair France is a member of this coordinating 
body of French nGOs, whose aim is to promote 
their values to private and public institutions, both 
in France and abroad.

EU-CORD
Medair is a member of the Eu-CORD, a network 
of relief and development organisations with 
headquarters in Europe, formed in 1998 with 
the goal of serving the poor more effectively and 
improving the conditions of disadvantaged people 
in the world. 

HAP-I
Medair is a full member of hAP international, 
whose purpose is to achieve and promote the 
highest principles of accountability, through self-
regulation by members linked by common respect 
for the rights and dignity of beneficiaries.

ImpACT Coalition, U.K.
Medair u.K. is a member of the impACt Coalition, 
which promotes better understanding of  
how charities work and the benefits they bring  
to society. 

People in Aid
Medair is a member of the Code of Good Practice in 
the management and support of aid personnel in 
areas of health and safety, diversity, and equality. 

The Fundraising Standards Board, U.K.
this board is the self-regulatory body for 
fundraising in the u.K. Members agree to adhere to 
highest standards of good fundraising practice. 

VOICE
through the membership to Eu-CORD, Medair is a 
member of VOiCE, a network of nGOs throughout 
Europe that are active in the field of humanitarian 
aid, including emergency aid, rehabilitation, 
disaster preparedness, and conflict prevention. 

European Interagency Security Forum (EISF) 
the European interagency Security Forum (EiSF) 
is a group of security focal points of European 
international humanitarian agencies concerned 
with security and safety of humanitarian  
relief organisations. 

Principles

Sphere
the Sphere Project, launched by humanitarian 
nGOs and the Red Cross and Red Crescent 
movement, comprises a handbook, a process  
of collaboration, and a commitment to quality  
and accountability. 

International Committee of the Red Cross
Medair is a signatory to the “Code of Conduct 
for the international Red Cross and Red Crescent 
Movement and nGOs in Disaster Relief.”
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Medair
Ecublens, Switzerland

Audited Consolidated Financial Statements  

2009

Medair operates with u.S. dollars as its functional currency

the following pages are presented in u.S. dollars
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Report on Financial Performance 
Mission Statement
the mission of Medair is to respond to human suffering 
in emergency and disaster situations by implementing 
multi-sectoral relief and rehabilitation projects, in a 
compassionate and serving attitude inspired by its 
Christian ethos.

Medair Strategy
Our present strategy is to bring life-saving emergency relief 
and rehabilitation in disasters, crises, and conflict areas by 
working alongside the most vulnerable. Our strength is in 
providing medical services, improved access to safe water and 
sanitation, and in shelter and infrastructure construction.

Chairman’s Report
During 2009, Medair was able to provide relief and 
rehabilitation services in eight country programmes in 
seven countries, thanks to the generous financial support 
of our many donors, both institutional and individual. 
We sent staff to Zimbabwe late in the year to lay the 
groundwork for starting a new country programme there.

Our humanitarian expenditure in 2009 was uSD 29.2 million 
compared to uSD 27.7 million in 2008. Despite the 
continuing financial crisis in 2009, we were able to maintain 
our field programmes.

however our private donations decreased significantly 
during this year from uSD 6.6 million to uSD 5.7 million.  

it is very important that our private donations turn around 
and continue the growth we have seen in prior years. 
Financial support from generous individuals who understand 
and share our values is essential to fulfilling our mission.

Our overhead continues to compare very favourably 
in the nGO community. Eighty-six percent (86%) of all 
incoming funds are used in field programmes to serve the 
beneficiaries of our programmes.

Our cash position decreased again for the second 
consecutive year. this decrease reflects the continuing 
trend for donors to reimburse expenses incurred, rather 
than provide advance funds for operational contracts, as 
well as the decrease in private donations during the year. 
this continues to put pressure on our reserves and re-
inforces the need for continued growth in private funding.

i want to express my personal thanks and sincere 
appreciation to each staff member and every donor who 
made this year possible.

 hans Gitsels
 Chairman

Photo :  A Medair staff discusses important information posted on Medair’s 
beneficiary accountability notice board in Kapedo, uganda. 
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Board of Trustees
Arie de Boer*, treasurer, 2008
nelleke Bosshardt, 2009
Christina Bregy, 2009
hans Gitsels, President, 2001
Max Gove, Secretary, 1998
ton Jansen, 2008
Adriaan Korevaar*, 2009

Management Team
John Farmer, 2004
Oliver Fink, 2007
Jim ingram, 2007
Patrice leguern, 2005
John Rigstad, 2001
David Sauter, 1994
Randall Zindler, CEO, 2003

the Board of trustees is elected from the membership of the Medair Association. there must be a minimum of five Board 
members, who serve for three-year terms. to ensure leadership continuity, no more than one-third of the Board can be 
replaced during a year.

the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is appointed by and responsible to the Board for the management and operation of the 
organisation. the Management team assists him in this responsibility.  

Board of trustee and Management team members at 31 December 2009 are presented below. Finance Committee members 
are identified with an asterisk (*).

Leadership of Medair

Photo :  Women and children in Southern Sudan with their measles  
vaccination cards. 
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Photo : Medair staff teach hygiene lessons to women in Afghanistan. 

Financial Statistics
PROGRAMME inCOME AnD ExPEnSE 2009 (uSD)

 

Afghanistan D.R. Congo indonesia Madagascar Somalia north 
Sudan

South 
Sudan

uganda Zimbabwe

income 3,748,474 3,996,158 622,650 1,538,226 3,019,841 5,932,229 6,853,291 3,215,808 127,140

Expense 3,984,639 4,129,167 607,795 1,759,715 3,045,417 6,425,192 7,193,171 3,362,708 122,284
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PROGRAMME ExPEnSE BY SECtOR
 

Medical Services 45.6%nutrition 8.8%

Water & Sanitation 32.5%

Agriculture & Food Security 1.8%
Construction 4.9%

Disaster Risk Reduction 3.0%

livelihoods 3.4%

Government E.u. & u.n. 67.3%

 

humanitarian expense 
(indirect) 6.5%

Administration 7.1%

Fundraising 5.9%

humanitarian expense (direct) 80.5%

OPERAtinG inCOME 2009

Gifts-in-kind 8.4%
Other income 0.3%

Private Donations 18.3%

Foundations & nGOs 5.7%

OPERAtinG ExPEnSE 2009
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Balance Sheet
as of 31 December 2009

    
 2009 2008 

  note uSD uSD

ASSEtS

CuRREnt ASSEtS
Cash and bank accounts 10   5 264 188    5 785 391
Donor receivables 11   11 493 237     18 000 071 
General receivables 11   85 041    199 581
inventory 12   41 240     25 346 
Prepaid expense 13   407 209    507 297 
      17 290 915     24 517 687 

lOnG-tERM ASSEtS
 Financial assets 14   124 552    125 862
 Fixed assets 15   1 299 777    1 577 501 
      1 424 329     1 703 362 

  TOTAL ASSETS    18 715 244     26 221 049 

liABilitiES AnD FunD BAlAnCES

CuRREnt liABilitiES
 Donors payable 6,16   7 811 918    13 557 073
 Accounts payable 16   539 498    828 297
 Short-term debt 16   1 926 782    1 420 950
 Current maturities of long-term debt 16   202 435    253 241
 Accrued liabilities 17   174 375    168 821
 Provisions 33   193 664    65 376 
      10 848 672     16 293 758 

lOnG-tERM liABilitiES
 Severance benefits    188 847     188 847 
 long-term debt 18      199 054 
      188 847     387 901 

REStRiCtED FunDS 28     
 Restricted income funds    683 916     577 415 
 Restricted programme funds    364 329     794 185  
      1 048 245     1 371 600 

unREStRiCtED FunDS 29
 unrestricted capital    1 081 161     853 546 
 Allocated capital    5 548 322     7 314 242 
      6 629 483     8 167 788 

 TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES     18 715 244     26 221 049 

All figures shown are in uSD
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Income Statement 2009

    
 2009 2008 

 note unrestricted Restricted total total

inCOME 3     
Donor grants 5,6    23 007 956   23 007 956    26 597 519 
Private donations 19   4 347 000   1 431 025   5 778 025   6 614 457
Gifts-in-kind 20    2 650 082   2 650 082   1 274 128
Other income 21   238 837   -131 119   107 719   280 534 
       
 OPERATING INCOME    4 585 837   26 957 945   31 543 782    34 766 638 
       
       
       
ExPEnSE 3     
humanitarian expense 22   -29 197 509    -29 197 509   -27 655 192
Administrative expense 23   -4 369 351    -4 369 351   -4 332 041 
       
 OPERATING EXPENSE 26   -33 566 860   -   -33 566 860   -31 987 234 
       
       
RESult FROM OPERAtiOnS      -28 981 023   26 957 945   -2 023 078    2 779 404 

       
Financial income    6 119    6 119   125 896
Financial expense    -93 149    -93 149    -106 390 
Realised gain on exchange  9,24  -1 151 908   -9 219   -1 161 127   -367 876
unrealised gain on exchange  9  1 378 372    1 378 372   -1 618 880 
     139 435   -9 219   130 216    -1 967 249 
       
nEt RESult      -28 841 588   26 948 726   -1 892 862    812 155 

FunD MOVEMEntS DuRinG thE YEAR       
Restricted funds income     29 179 403   29 179 403   31 981 845
Restricted funds expense  3  -29 516 681    -29 516 681   -31 511 646
unrestricted funds income    3 602 644    3 602 644   6 250 437
unrestricted funds expense    -5 158 229    -5 158 229   -5 908 483
     -31 072 266   29 179 403   -1 892 862    812 155 
       
AllOCAtiOn OF nEt RESult  3     
REStRiCtED FunDS     -323 356   -323 356   459 945
unREStRiCtED FunDS    -1 569 507    -1 569 507   352 210
     -1 569 507   -323 356   -1 892 862    812 155 
       
RESult AFtER AllOCAtiOn     -29 502 759   29 502 759  0  0

All figures shown are in uSD
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Cash Flow Statement 2009

    
 2009 2008 

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATIONS     
 net result    -1 892 862   812 155
     
 net depreciation 15   677 001   687 113
 (increase)/decrease in donor receivables 11   6 506 833   -1 658 507
 (increase)/decrease in general receivables 11   114 540   -55 929
 (increase)/decrease in inventory 12   -15 894   -7 106
 (increase)/decrease in prepaid expense 13   100 088   21 071
 increase/(decrease) in donors payable 6   -5 745 155   -99 496
 increase/(decrease) in accounts payable 16   -288 799   -176 152
 increase/(decrease) in accrued liabilities  17   5 554   45 978
 increase/(decrease) in provisions 33   128 288   -624 164
 increase/(decrease) in severance benefits 18   -   114 837
 unrealised gain/(loss) on exchange    30 252   -51 081
     -380 153    -1 165 346 
     
     
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
 (investments)/disposals in financial assets 14   1 310   -20 480
 (investments) in fixed assets 15   -446 447   -811 479
 Disposals in fixed assets 15   48 115   33 720 
     -397 023    -798 239 
     
     
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
 increase/(decrease ) in short-term loan 16   505 832    1 420 950 
 increase/(decrease ) in long-term loan 18   -249 860    -178 662 
     255 973    1 242 289 

 tOtAl MOVEMEnt in CASh     -521 203    -721 296 
     
     
ChAnGE in CASh BAlAnCES 10   
 Opening balance   5 785 391   6 506 687
 Closing balance   5 264 188    5 785 391 
      -521 203    -721 296

note
All figures shown are in uSD
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 2009

  Opening unrestricted Restricted Programme Financial Fund Closing
 note Balance income income Expense Gain/(loss) transfers Balance

REStRiCtED FunDS 28

Restricted income funds 
 Africa fund   35     1 517 860      52 836    -1 570 730    0 
 Emergency response fund   440 923     40 088    -    -13    -    480 997 
 Forgotten victims fund   -1     139      220    -    358 
 Medical fund   78 912     -    -    1 315    -80 224    3 
 Oak fund    -      254 708        -254 708    - 
 Medair Germany fund    -      12 444      1 982    -14 426    - 
 Water fund   49 466     7 720    -    78    -53 109    4 154 
 Staff care capital fund        138 543           138 543 
 Staff care & development fund        23 091           23 091 
 Capacity management fund        23 091           23 091 
 Anniversary fund    2 522      5 666        -8 188    - 
 Private activity fund   5 560     -      10       5 569 
 Cumulative currency translation                 8 110 
     577 415    -    2 023 349    -    56 427    -1 981 385    683 916 
          
Restricted programme funds 28        
 Afghanistan   192 213     3 040 057    -3 984 639    68 215    726 254    42 100 
 Angola   9 943     -8 114    -    -1 426    -    402 
 D.R. Congo   78 127     2 933 216    -4 129 167    109 264    1 037 807    29 247 
 indonesia   11 493     490 553    -607 795    -16 215    132 078    10 113 
 iran   5 536     -    -         5 536 
 iraq   379     -           379 
 Madagascar   207 375     1 095 203    -1 759 715    31 288    448 340    22 491 
 Pakistan   28 354     -    -    3 099       31 453 
 Somalia   46 108     3 010 895    -3 045 417    -4 743    64 345    71 187 
 Sri lanka   71       -      -    71 
 Sudan - northern States   91 685     5 362 887    -6 425 192    441 959    558 214    29 553 
 Sudan - Southern Sudan   83 489     6 361 271    -7 193 171    301 217    541 836    94 642 
 uganda   34 802     2 642 663    -3 362 708    123 792    572 695    11 243 
 Zimbabwe   4 612     5 966    -122 284    533    121 274    10 101 
 Cumulative currency translation                 5 811 
     794 185    -    24 934 596    -30 630 090    1 056 982    4 202 843    364 329 
          
 tOtAl REStRiCtED FunDS    1 371 601    -    26 957 945    -30 630 090    1 113 409    2 221 458    1 048 245 
          
          
unREStRiCtED FunDS 29        

unrestricted capital          
 undesignated funds   853 546   4 353 631        333 265    -4 473 875     1 066 567 
 Cumulative currency translation 8                14 593 
 undesignated funds    853 546    4 353 631      -    333 265    -4 473 875    1 081 161 

Allocated capital    
 Administrative fund   1 100 664   228 230    -    -2 717 708   a)   -985 729    3 447 232    1 072 690 
 Capital equipment fund    916 604    3 975      -213 562    -14 223    249 860    942 653 
 Operations fund    5 234 070      -      -317 613    -1 444 676    3 471 781 
 training fund    62 904      -    -5 500    1 107    -    58 511 
 Cumulative currency translation                2 687 
     7 314 242    232 205    -    -2 936 770    -1 316 458    2 252 416     5 548 322 
          
 tOtAl unREStRiCtED FunDS    8 167 788    4 585 837    -    -2 936 770    -983 193    -2 221 458     6 629 483 
                 
tOtAl ChAnGES in CAPitAl    9 539 388    4 585 837    26 957 945    -33 566 860    130 216    -    7 677 728 
 

Statement of Changes in Capital and Funds 2009

All figures shown are in uSD

a) this is a net number after the field contribution in support of administrative costs
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for 2009
Presentation
1. Medair is a private, non-profit, and non-governmental 

organisation that brings life-saving emergency relief 
and rehabilitation in disasters, crises, and conflict 
areas by working alongside the most vulnerable. 
Medair was founded in 1988 and established in 1989 
as an association under article 60 and following of 
the Swiss Civil Code. Medair is independent of any 
political, economic, social, or religious authority.

Accounting Principles
2. Scope of consolidation

these financial statements present the consolidated 
activities of Medair-affiliated offices worldwide. the 
international headquarters of Medair are located in 
Ecublens, Switzerland.

Medair
Chemin du Croset 9
1024 Ecublens
Switzerland

Five affiliate offices and one Swiss foundation are 
consolidated into these financial statements. Each 
affiliate office is an independent entity with a distinct 
Board of trustees, but agrees to support the work 
of Medair worldwide. Medair invest-in-Aid is an 
independent Swiss foundation that promotes long-

term financial development and endowment income 
for Medair.

Medair e.V. Deutschland 
höhnstrasse 14
97647 Willmars 
Germany

Medair united States
P.O. Box 4476
Wheaton, IL 60189-4476
united States

Medair France
5 avenue Abel
26120 Chabeuil
France

Medair united Kingdom
unit 3, taylors Yard
67 Alderbrook Road
London SW12 8AD
united Kingdom

Stichting Medair nederland
Amsterdamseweg 16
3812 RS Amersfoort
the netherlands

Medair invest-in-Aid
Chemin du Croset 9
Ch-1024 Ecublens
Switzerland

 
in addition, these financial statements incorporate the 
income and expenses for all humanitarian programmes 
at field locations. While some of these programmes may 
be in countries where there is a legally registered Medair 
office, operational control (including the power to govern 
the operating and financial policies of the programmes) 
is maintained through the international headquarters  
in Switzerland.

Photo : Medair staff construct a new clinic in Gombe, D.R. Congo. 
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3. Principles of financial statement preparation 
the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with all the standards of Swiss GAAP RPC, 
except those which do not apply to Medair, such as 
RPC 14 (insurance companies) and RPC 26 (pension 
funds). the financial statements present a true and 
fair view of Medair activities and financial situation. 
these principles require management to make 
informed judgments, best estimates and assumptions 
that may affect the reported amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenue, and expenses. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 

Medair uses the fund accounting method in which 
all revenues and expenses are assigned to a 
specific fund. Revenues are recorded as restricted 
or unrestricted depending on donor designation. All 
expenses are considered unrestricted. the net result 
of current year activities is allocated to fund balances 
at the close of the fiscal year.

these financial statements have been prepared 
using the historical cost convention. the accrual 
method of accounting has been used for revenue and 
administrative expenses incurred in Switzerland and 
the affiliate offices. the cash basis of accounting is in 
use at field locations for local revenue and programme 
expenses. All amounts are expressed in u.S. dollars. 

4. Changes in presentation of accounts since 2008
We have updated our presentation of the split between 
humanitarian expense and administrative expense 
using the latest guidelines published by Zewo. the 
2008 split has been reworked following the same 
guidelines used for 2009. the revised presentation can 
be seen in note 26 below. 

5. Recognition of grant revenue
Grant revenue is presented as constructively earned 
according to the percent of completion method 
(POCM). the portion of a grant constructively earned is 
determined by calculating actual grant expense to the 
total grant budget at end of year. there are no material 
cost overruns on grant budgets at year end 2009.

6. Deferred revenue on donor grants
Donor grant contracts often extend beyond the 
current fiscal year. the table below presents the 
deferral amount for each country programme. At year 

end, total donor receivables were uSD 11,493,237 
with a deferred revenue amount of uSD 7,811,918. 
Deferred revenue is presented on the balance sheet 
as a payable to the donor. 

USD 2009 2008
Afghanistan -778,059 -970,208

Africa -1,515,008

Angola -157,789

D.R. Congo -345,528 -1,643,410

indonesia -91,372 -727,711

Madagascar -423,015 -1,363,656

Somalia -61,331 -1,252,371

Sudan, northern States -2,911,163 -3,389,229

Sudan, Southern Sudan -2,216,432 -1,191,669

uganda -189,726 -1,346,022

Oak Foundation -745,292

Proctor & Gamble -50,000

tOtAl -7,811,918 -13,557,073

7. treatment of inter-company transactions
All inter-company transactions have been eliminated 
from these financial statements. inter-company 
transactions consist of donor grants, restricted 
and unrestricted donations, accounts receivable 
and accounts payable. humanitarian grants from 
governmental donors have been signed by Medair 
u.K. and then transferred to Medair (Switzerland) for 
implementation. these grants have been removed from 
the revenue and accounts payable figures of Medair u.K.  

8. Functional currency and foreign currency translation
Medair (Switzerland) maintains its accounts in u.S. 
dollars. European affiliate offices record their accounts 
in local currency. in addition, Medair u.K. maintains 
a financial ledger in euro to account for donor grant 
activity from the European Commission. All national office 
accounts have been converted into u.S. dollars at the 
average annual rates for the income statement and at the 
closing rates for the presentation of the balance sheet.

2009 2008
Closing exchange rate ChF / uSD 0.96360 0.94730

Average exchange rate ChF / uSD 0.92362 0.92644

Closing exchange rate EuR / uSD 1.43330 1.40970

Average exchange rate EuR / uSD 1.39463 1.47134

Closing exchange rate GBP / uSD 1.59280 1.44790

Average exchange rate GBP / uSD 1.56593 1.85518
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transactions that occur in local currencies on the field 
are converted into our base currency using the temporal 
method, as if they had occurred in u.S. dollars.

9. treatment of exchange gains and losses
Medair uses the current rate method of reporting 
currency translations. Currency translations that arise 
from bringing affiliate office or the foundation accounts 
in local currency into u.S. dollar base currency are 
taken to the balance sheet as either restricted or 
unrestricted capital. this fund is the cumulative 
currency translation adjustment.

unrealised gains and losses, including the revaluation 
of balance sheet items, are reported on the income 
statement in accordance with RPC 2.

All realised exchange gains and losses from operating 
activities are reported on the income statement.  
Exchange differences on inter-company transactions 
have been recorded to the income statement as 

realised gains and losses to either restricted or 
unrestricted income, depending on the source at the 
affiliate office.

Notes to the Balance sheet  
10. Cash and bank accounts

Cash accounts consist primarily of currency accounts in 
field locations. Bank accounts include accounts at both 
field locations and for the administrative offices. 

11. Receivables  
Receivables consist of donor grants, general 
receivables, and Medair debtors. Donor receivables 
are recorded when grant contracts are signed. it is 
reasonable to expect that Medair will conform to 
the stipulations of the grant contracts, after which 
collection is reasonably assured. Medair debtors 
consist of staff receivables and the Medair Staff 
Assistance Foundation (MSAF). 

Photo :  Families of children being treated in Medair’s child nutrition 
project receive additional food rations in Burao, Somaliland.  
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Receivables (USD) 2009 2008
Governmental donors 9,618,895 13,516,422

nGO & institutional donors 1,181,726 1,636,318

united nations organisations 692,616 2,847,331

Donor receivables 11,493,237 18,000,071

General debtors 32,181 89,071

Medair debtors 52,860 110,511

General receivables 85,041 199,581

total 11,578,279 18,199,652

12. inventory
inventory consists of material and supplies located in 
Switzerland and used in field programmes. Stock is 
recorded to inventory when purchased and is valued at 
purchase cost. the FiFO method is applied to expended 
items. inventory items are used exclusively for field 
programmes and are not for commercial resale.

13. Prepaid expenses
Prepaid expenses consist of rent payments in advance 
on the field, flight payments in advance on the field, 
occupational pension premiums, insurance premiums 
against data loss, theft, accidents, and salary in case 
of illness.

14. Financial assets
these assets consist of blocked deposit accounts and 
capital deposits in Medair Staff Assistance Foundation 
(MSAF).  there is no reported revenue from this foundation.   

15. Fixed assets
Fixed assets are Medair capital assets in use at the 
international headquarters in Switzerland or in the 
performance of its humanitarian activities. All capital 
assets at field locations are considered restricted.  
Medair assets are recorded at cost of acquisition. 

Depreciation
Straight line depreciation expense is calculated based 
on the expected useful life of the capital asset category. 
Depreciation charges begin in the month after purchase.

the value of capital assets is assessed at closing. 
if there is an indication of impairment where the 
remaining value of the capital asset is less than its 
stated book value, an impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in the income statement. 

Office equipment 3 years

Computer equipment 3 years

Software 3 years

Communication equipment 1.5 to 4 years

Energy equipment 2 to 3 years 

Furniture & fixtures 5 years

leasehold improvements 5 years

Vehicles 2 to 3 years

USD Asset Group Office Computer Comms Power Other Pumps Facility Vehicles Total

Total Opening book value 73,507 693,456 53,023 37,865 6,242 16,465 1 99,879 497,063 1,577,501

Assets

Closing balance 31.12.08 1 54,125 1,379,995 121,308 55,075 25,847 23,709 254,657 1,040,739 3,055,455

Currency translation -2,012 -7,553 - - -609 - - - -10,173

Opening balance 1.1.09 152,113 1,372,443 121,308 55,075 25,239 23,709 254,657 1,040,739 3,045,281

Reclass - - - - - - - -

2009 Additions 5,451 89,864 50,564 13,914 26,315 - 79 260,225 446,412

2009 Disposals -36,413 -299,023 -26,430 -5,886 -16,383 - -79 -6,292 -390,506

Closing balance 31.12.09 121,151 1,163,284 145,441 63,103 35,171 23,709 254,657 1,294,672 3,101,187

Acc Depreciation

Closing balance 31.12.08 -79,591 -683,106 -68,285 -17,209 -19,322 -7,244 -54,778 -543,675 -1,473,210

Currency translation 986 4,120 - - 325 - - - 5,431

Opening balance 1.1.09 -78,606 -678,986 -68,285 -17,209 -18,997 -7,244 -54,778 -543,675 -1,467,731

Reclass - - - - - - - -

2009 Disposals 35,987 269,350 10,246 4,133 16,383 - - 6,292 342,391

2009 Depreciation -23,016 -184,614 -57,362 -17,945 -2,227 -7,903 -49,618 -334,318 -677,001

Closing balance 31.12.09 -65,635 -594,251 -115,401 -31,021 -4,841 -15,148 -104,396 -871,701 -1,802,394

Currency translation 203 719 61 983

Total Closing book value 55,720 569,752 30,040 32,081 30,391 8,562 1 50,261 422,971 1,299,777
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16. Donors payable and accounts payable
Accounts payable consist of unearned grant balances 
due to donors, vendor payables, statutory payables 
and Medair staff payables. Refer to notes 5 and 6 on 
the treatment of grants from institutional donors. 
Payables of uSD 92,168 to Medair staff and the Medair 
Staff Assistance Foundation (MSAF) are included in the 
total. Payables of uSD 202,435, the current portion of 
the long-term loan is shown separately. Short-term 
debt consists of a cash flow loan of uSD 1,926,782. 

17. Accrued liabilities
this item consists of obligations for statutory, consolidated 
and donor audits plus any trailing field grant expenses for 
which invoices had not been received by year end.

18. long-term liabilities
these liabilities consist of severance benefits for 
nationally recruited staff in our field programmes and a 
loan from Microsoft Financing for the purchase of new 
software, which will be fully paid off in 2010.

Notes to the Income Statement 
19. Recognition of revenue

Refer to notes 5 and 6 on the treatment of grants from 
institutional donors. Private donations are recorded 
as revenue when received and split into restricted or 
unrestricted, according to donor designations. Pledges 
are not treated as revenue.

Medair segments its operations geographically, by 
country. the following table presents comparative 
revenue figures by country.

USD Total Revenue
2009 2008

Afghanistan 3,766,311 3,738,460

Angola -8,114 -

D.R. Congo 3,971,023 5,131,669

indonesia 622,630 1,374,192

Madagascar 1,543,543 1,977,094

Mozambique - 1,318

Somalia 3,075,240 936,270

Sudan, northern States 5,921,101 7,603,151

Sudan, Southern Sudan 6,903,107 7,364,646

uganda 3,215,358 3,762,867

Zimbabwe 127,240 -

Switzerland/Affiliates 2,406,343 2,876,972

total 31,543,782 34,766,638

20. Gifts in Kind (GiK)
Gifts in kind are an integral part of Medair’s humanitarian 
programme. Medair is fully responsible for the receipt, 
storage, transportation, accounting, and distribution 
of these materials. Gifts in kind received are recorded 
as income and expense in our accounts. the total 
breakdown of gift-in-kind activity is presented below.

21. Other income
Other income consists of sales income, training fees for 
our Relief and Rehabilitation Orientation Course (ROC), 
beneficiary participation in field programmes, and 
miscellaneous income.

22. humanitarian expense
humanitarian expense is the total cost of providing 
goods and services to Medair’s beneficiaries. 
it includes the costs of implementing these 
humanitarian programmes, such as project staff, 
food and living costs, communication and energy 
equipment, vehicles, transportation and storage of 
materials, and logistical and financial expenses. 
it also includes the research, preparation, 
planning, selection, follow-up, and control of 
these humanitarian programmes provided by the 
headquarters office in Ecublens, Switzerland.

Programme expense is the total humanitarian cost 
plus a contribution toward indirect cost. the budget of 
each humanitarian programme includes a 15 percent 
contribution to support the administrative costs of 
Medair. this cost is not reported with humanitarian 
expense, but is included in the term programme 
expense in the Statement of Changes in Capital.

23. Administrative expense
Administrative expense includes the cost of the 
Medair office in Ecublens, Switzerland, plus the 
administrative costs of each of the affiliate offices 

USD 2009 2008
Afghanistan 65,274 108,668

D.R. Congo 827,512 356,842

Madagascar 123,802

Somalia 976,461

Sudan, northern States 267,713 56,668

Sudan, Southern Sudan 458,397 308,235

uganda 54,724 314,616

Medair u.K. 5,297

total 2,650,082 1,274,128



59   

and the invest-in-Aid foundation. these costs 
consist of general management costs, including 
h.R., operations and logistics, finance, as well as 
marketing and fundraising costs.

24. Realised gain on exchange
this is the net result of realised gains and losses, 
which is recorded to the income statement.

25. Cost of fund appeals
Medair (Switzerland) ran thirteen fundraising 
campaigns during 2009, the results of which are 
presented below. Results are based on revenue 
received within 90 days after reception instead of 
60 days as in prior years. the results of fundraising 

campaigns in our European affiliate offices were  
not similarly tracked in 2008 and therefore cannot  
be presented.

USD 2009 2008
number of campaigns 13 13

total cost 271,826 227,063

total revenue 578,908 523,762

26. Organisational expenses
these expense categories are presented for 
information only. they present a functional breakdown 
of operating expenses rather than the activity based 
presentation of the financial accounts.  

USD Sectors Personnel Travel Admin Maintenance Depreciation
Other 

expense
Total

Support
Expenses

Total

Afghanistan 1,731,813 973,304 200,613 273,704 90,930 55,498 147,819 3,473,680 280,680 3,754,360

D.R. Congo 1,920,448 1,078,897 168,152 257,298 91,510 6,674 213,944 3,736,922 301,950 4,038,873

indonesia 239,132 190,739 40,697 17,655 1,689 4,496 25,585 519,993 42,016 562,010

Madagascar 719,351 513,745 66,797 98,585 37,728 1,700 101,081 1,538,986 124,353 1,663,339

Somalia 1,407,816 716,499 95,866 168,541 6,257 4,292 377,065 2,776,335 224,333 3,000,668

Sudan, 
northern 
States

1,844,858 2,085,489 579,327 616,070 125,032 106,172 253,212 5,610,160 453,312 6,063,471

Sudan, 
Southern 1,844,634 2,340,633 812,450 570,886 185,252 154,233 406,297 6,314,384 510,214 6,824,598

uganda 1,107,200 1,075,767 204,264 197,023 98,519 118,711 136,393 2,937,877 237,386 3,175,263

Zimbabwe 0 33,654 31,280 4,523 0 589 36,290 106,334 8,592 114,926

tOtAl 10,815,251 9,008,725 2,199,446 2,204,284 636,917 452,365 1,697,685 27,014,673 2,182,837 29,197,509

USD

Humanitarian Administration Total
Operating
ExpenseDirect Support

General
Management Fundraising

Sectors 10,815,251 10,815,251

Personnel 9,008,725 1,909,936 1,238,148 771,244 12,928,053

travel & representation 2,199,446 130,952 71,296 45,509 2,447,203

Admin 2,204,284 129,955 635,915 51,245 3,021,399

Maintenance 636,917 0 91,285 728,202

Depreciation 452,365 224,635 677,000

Other 1,697,685 11,994 130,178 37,964 1,877,821

Fundraising direct 1,071,932 1,071,932

total 27,014,673 2,182,837 2,391,458 1,977,895 33,566,860

the following table presents only the humanitarian expenses by country.
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Notes to the Statement of Changes  
in Capital and Funds
27. Presentation of fund balances

Revenues and expenses from the Swiss accounts, 
including field office transactions, are presented in 
u.S. dollars. Current year revenues and expenses per 
fund from the affiliated offices and the foundation 
are converted at average annual exchange rates from 
local currency. the difference between a calculated 
fund balance (opening balance plus revenues minus 
expenses) and a converted fund balance at closing 
exchange rate is taken to the cumulative currency 
translation line within the appropriate fund section. 

28. Restricted funds
Restricted funds consist of restricted income funds and 
restricted programme funds. they are used according 
to the designation of the donor. in the unlikely event 
that the Board of trustees needs to redirect the funds 
or change the purpose of a restricted fund, the prior 
approval of affected donors will be sought.  

Restricted income funds
Restricted income funds are solicited from private 
donors for a specific cause. they are used to augment 
programme funds in certain humanitarian operations. 
they may also be used for organisational capacity 
building, such as training courses, relevant materials, 
conducting staff workshops, etc.  Allocation of these 
funds to specific programmes is at the discretion of 
the Management team.

Africa fund Restricted to programme activity in 
Africa. this fund receives an annual 
block grant from the Swiss government, 
which is reallocated to country restricted 
programme funds.

Emergency response this fund facilitates immediate 
intervention in the event of a new or 
developing humanitarian emergency.

Forgotten victims Restricted to programmes that work with 
vulnerable or displaced persons. 

Medical fund Restricted to programmes with medical or 
health-related activities.

Oak fund Restricted to capacity improvements at  
the headquarters.

Medair Germany fund Restricted to field programmes.

Water fund Restricted to programmes related directly 
to water and sanitation activities.

Staff care capital fund the interest earned from this fund will be 
allocated to the Staff Care & Development 
fund. this is a Medair invest-in-Aid fund.

Staff care development 
fund

this fund facilitates individual Medair staff 
care for special needs and training. this is 
a Medair invest-in-Aid fund.

Capacity management 
fund

this fund facilitates the running of the 
Medair invest-in-Aid foundation.

Anniversary fund Restricted to expenses for the 
20th anniversary of Medair in 2009.

Private activity Funds raised by expatriate staff members 
for special projects.

Restricted programme funds
Programme funds are the current liabilities for 
unfinished humanitarian programmes at year 
end. they consist of unspent local grants and 
private donations given in support of a specific 
humanitarian operation. A restricted programme 
fund is maintained for each country in which 
Medair operates.

29. unrestricted funds
these funds are the general reserves of Medair. they 
consist of unrestricted capital and allocated funds, 
which facilitate operational management. use of these 
funds is at the discretion of the Management team.

Unrestricted capital

undesignated funds Private donations that are not 
designated to a specific programme or 
cause by the donor.

Cumulative currency the accumulated effect of unrealised 
currency translations.

Allocated capital

Administrative fund used for the general administrative costs 
of the organisation.

Capital equipment fund used for the purchase of Medair-owned 
assets. See note 14.

Operations fund used to support the cash flow 
requirements of field projects. 

training fund used for the professional development of 
Medair staff members.

30. Movements between funds
the purpose of fund transfers is to augment 
institutional donor funds in the outworking of 
humanitarian programmes on the field. institutional 
donors will often require co-funding of projects with 
revenue from other sources. the table below presents 
the fund transfers made during 2009.
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Other Information
31. Remuneration of the Board of trustees

Members of the Board of trustees of Medair (Switzerland) 
and the respective boards of each European affiliate 
office volunteered their time in 2009, receiving neither 
salary nor indemnity. Board members are allowed to 
submit travel expenses for reimbursement.

32. Contingent liability
in January of 2010, the humanitarian Aid department 
of the European Commission (EChO) contracted an 
external audit of project expenses from 2006, 2007, 
and 2008. the final report has not yet been received. 
Based on preliminary drafts, Medair has booked a 
provisional expense of EuR 135,120.

in March 2008, Medair received the results of an 
evaluation on work done for our country programme 
in indonesia during 2007. this evaluation showed 
that the quality of the work done on one specific 
project was sub-standard. As a result, remediation 
work would have to be done and the estimate of this 
work was uSD 825,000 at the end of 2007. Medair 
raised a provision of uSD 500,000 for this remedial 
construction work in our 2007 financials. A significant 
portion of this was covered by donors and, as a result, 
in 2008 this provision was lowered to uSD 65,376 for 
the remaining portion of the remedial work in 2009. 
this remaining amount was fully utilised in 2009.

33. Provisions
the provision raised at the end of 2007 was fully utilised 
for the remaining indonesia remedial construction work  
in 2009. An additional provision of uSD 193,664 was 
raised for the EChO audit conducted in January 2010. 

USD 2009 2008
Opening Balance 65,376 689,540

Additions 193,664

utilisations 65,376 593,543

Dissolutions 30,621

Closing Balance 193,664 65,376

USD SOURCE FUND

Receiving fund Africa fund Oak fund Anniv fund MDE fund Medical 
fund Water fund

unde-
signated 

funds

Operations 
fund tOtAl

Emergency response fund 0

Forgotten victims fund 0

Afghanistan 2,503 10,000 5,000 274,035 434,717 726,255

Angola 0

D.R. Congo 53,737 6,167 10,000 5,000 883,516 79,388 1,037,808

indonesia 98 10,000 121,980 132,078

iran 0

Madagascar 438,340 10,000 448,340

Mozambique 0

Somalia 130 15,139 49,076 64,345

Sri lanka 0

Sudan - northern States 1,146 10,084 15,109 532,351 558,690

Sudan - Southern Sudan 516,610 1,749 15,000 8,000 541,359

uganda 562,044 651 10,000 572,695

Zimbabwe 10,000 111,274 121,274

Capital Equipment fund 249,860 249,860

Administrative fund 254,708 8,188 1,982 2,251,784 930,571 3,447,233

tOtAl 1,570,731 254,708 8,188 14,426 80,223 53,109 4,473,876 1,444,676
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34. Pension plan
Medair’s employees in Switzerland are insured against 
the economic consequences of old age, invalidity, and 
death, according to the provision of the federal law for 
occupational benefits, old age, and survivors (lPP), 
by Wintherthur-Columna Fondation LPP. According to 
the defined contribution plan covered by the collective 
foundation, the employees and the employer pay 
determined contributions. With this plan, net returns on 
plan assets do not influence contributions and the final 
provision is not guaranteed. Risks are supported by the 
collective foundation.

the annual contributions to the pension plan are 
recorded to the income statement during the period to 
which they relate. 

Expatriate volunteers do not benefit from the pension 
plan, although Swiss expatriates who have retained 
their Swiss domicile are insured by Winterthur–
Columna Fondation lPP.  in 2009 and 2008, two Swiss 
expatriates were covered by the plan.

the employees of each affiliate European office 
benefit from the pension plan related to a state 
insurance company. Medair does not maintain an 
independent pension plan for the affiliate offices.

35. Short-term debt
Due to a punctual need for cash during 2008, a loan was 
contracted. this loan balance is currently ChF 3,000,000. 
the interest rate on this loan is three percent per annum. 
there is no maturity date on this loan.

36. income tax
Medair is exempt from Swiss income tax and capital tax, 
according to a decision from the Finance Department of 
the Canton of Vaud, dated 19 March 1992.

37. insurance
Medair (Switzerland) maintains fire insurance on 
furniture and equipment in the amount of ChF 957,935. 

38. links to associated organisations
Medair Staff Assistance Foundation (MSAF) is an 
independent Swiss foundation that assists expatriate 
staff with medical expenses, health insurance, and 
repatriation on behalf of Medair. the financial accounts 
of this foundation are not included in these consolidated 
accounts, as the net impact on the financial statements 
is immaterial.

39. Apart from the EChO audit of January 2010 and already 
disclosed in notes 32 and 33 and the short-term credit 
limit being increased by ChF 1,000,000, there have not 
been any significant events post-closure that impact 
these financials statements for the year 2009.

40. Annual Report copies
Copies of the 2009 Swiss statutory annual report and 
the 2009 consolidated annual report are available 
upon written request to the Medair offices at Chemin du 
Croset 9, 1024 Ecublens, Switzerland.

Economic benefit / 
economic obligation 
and pension benefit 
expenses in CHF

Surplus /
deficit

Economic part of 
the organisation

Change to prior year 
period or recognised in the 
current result of the period 
respectively

Contributions 
concerning the 
business period

Pension benefit 
expenses 
within personal 
expenses

31.12.09 31.12.09 31.12.08 2009 2008

Pension institutions 
without surplus/deficit 0 0 0 0 331,568 331,568 302,632
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